# Assessing the Efficacy of Selected Wastewater Treatment Technologies to Reduce Dissemination of Environmental Antibiotic Resistance

Erica M. Loudermilk

**Doctoral Dissertation** 

University of Virginia

Department of Engineering Systems and the Environment

#### Abstract

The widespread occurrence and proliferation of antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARBs) continues to be a global concern. Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are known to be hotspots for ARBs and antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) because of high nutrient concentrations, presence of antibiotics that promote selective pressure, and a plethora of diverse bacteria populations, which can promote dissemination of ARG via horizontal gene transfer. WWTPs can potentially discharge ARBs and ARGs through aqueous and solid effluents, which raises concern about the role WWTPs play in disseminating ARBs and ARGs into the natural environment.

This dissertation assesses the behavior and fate of a model ARB, carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacterales*, and its corresponding ARG, *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>, as they flow from a hospital via wastewater into a typical municipal WWTP and, from there, into the natural environment via its receiving waters. This research also examines the efficacy of selected conventional WWTP technologies in deactivating the model ARB and ARG via laboratory-scale experiments of chlorination and ultraviolet (UV) radiation using traditional methods used in previous literature studies. This dissertation then describes an effects-based assay to assess the potential of gene transfer from treated wastewater effluents to microbial communities in the downstream receiving water. The results of this dissertation contribute to the knowledge of the role of WWTPs in dissemination of antibiotic resistance. They also highlight the usefulness of microcosm experiments as a novel, effects-based assay for evaluating the potential for antimicrobial dissemination from WWTPs, which has not yet been well-described in existing literature.

List of Figures       6         List of Tables       9         Acknowledgements       10         Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards       11         Chapter 1: Introduction and Background       12         1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         a.1 Background       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.3.3 Chaulysis       22         3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>kFC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         C	Definition of Acronyms	. 5
List of Tables       9         Acknowledgements       10         Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards       11         Chapter 1: Introduction and Background       12         1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         Asteground       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of blakper and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Tre	List of Figures	.6
Acknowledgements       10         Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards       11         Chapter 1: Introduction and Background       12         1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38	List of Tables	.9
Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards.       11         Chapter 1: Introduction and Background.       12         1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of blakec and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38	Acknowledgements	10
Chapter 1: Introduction and Background       12         1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations.       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates.       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         38       4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment	Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards1	11
1.1 Background and Motivation       12         1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22         3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and I6S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	Chapter 1: Introduction and Background	12
1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance       12         1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         Astronomic Mospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of blakrc and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38	1.1 Background and Motivation1	12
1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance       12         1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?       14         Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22         3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38	1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance1	12
1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?14Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives16Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural environment183.1 Background183.2 Methodology203.2.1 Sampling Locations203.2.2 Microbial Analyses213.2.3 PCR Analysis223.3 Results and Discussion233.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales233.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of $bla_{KPC}$ and 16S genes293.4 Conclusions313.5 References32Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB384.1 I Chlorination39	1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance1	12
Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives       16         Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         hospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20         3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22         3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of blakpc and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?1	14
Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from       18         hospital to natural environment       18         3.1 Background       18         3.2 Methodology       20 $3.2.1$ Sampling Locations       20 $3.2.2$ Microbial Analyses       21 $3.2.3$ PCR Analysis       22 <b>3.3 Results and Discussion</b> 23 $3.3.1$ Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23 $3.3.2$ Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28 $3.3.3$ Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29 <b>3.4</b> Conclusions       31 <b>3.5</b> References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection       38 <b>4.1</b> Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38	Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives	16
3.1 Background183.2 Methodology203.2.1 Sampling Locations203.2.2 Microbial Analyses213.2.3 PCR Analysis223.3 Results and Discussion233.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales233.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of $bla_{KPC}$ and 16S genes283.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates293.4 Conclusions313.5 References32Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB384.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment384.1.1 Chlorination39	Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural environment	18
3.2 Methodology203.2.1 Sampling Locations203.2.2 Microbial Analyses213.2.3 PCR Analysis223.3 Results and Discussion233.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales233.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes283.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates293.4 Conclusions313.5 References32Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection384.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment384.1.1 Chlorination39	3.1 Background	18
3.2.1 Sampling Locations       20         3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22 <b>3.3 Results and Discussion</b> 23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29 <b>3.4 Conclusions</b> 31 <b>3.5 References</b> 32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38 <b>4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment</b> 38	3.2 Methodology	20
3.2.2 Microbial Analyses       21         3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22 <b>3.3 Results and Discussion</b> 23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29 <b>3.4 Conclusions</b> 31 <b>3.5 References</b> 32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38 <b>4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment</b> 38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.2.1 Sampling Locations	20
3.2.3 PCR Analysis       22         3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.2.2 Microbial Analyses	21
3.3 Results and Discussion       23         3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.2.3 PCR Analysis	22
3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales       23         3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.3 Results and Discussion	23
3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla <sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes       28         3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales	23
3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates.       29         3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of $bla_{KPC}$ and 16S genes	28
3.4 Conclusions       31         3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection       38         technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates	29
3.5 References       32         Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection       38         technologies for inactivation of a model ARB       38         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment       38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	3.4 Conclusions	31
Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection         technologies for inactivation of a model ARB         4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment         38         4.1.1 Chlorination         39	3.5 References	32
<b>4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment</b> 38         4.1.1 Chlorination       39	Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB	38
4.1.1 Chlorination	4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment	38
	4.1.1 Chlorination	39
4.1.2 Ultraviolet Radiation	4.1.2 Ultraviolet Radiation	40
4.1.4 Photoreactivation and growth following UV-disinfection	4.1.4 Photoreactivation and growth following UV-disinfection	43
<b>4.2 Methodology</b>	4.2 Methodology	45
4.2.1 Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria	4.2.1 Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria	45
4.2.2 Preparation of Bacteria45	4.2.2 Preparation of Bacteria	45

# Table of Contents

4.2.3 Quantitative Analysis	46
4.2.4 Chlorination	46
4.2.5 Ultraviolet Radiation	47
4.2.6 Light- and Dark-repair Experiments	47
4.3 Results and Discussion	48
4.3.1 Chlorination Results	48
4.3.2 UV Results	49
4.3.3 Potential regrowth and repair following UV disinfection	51
4.4 Conclusions	53
4.5 References	54
Chapter 5: Objective 3. Characterizing dissemination of wastewater-based antin to representative downstream microbial communities	nicrobial resistance 60
5.1 Motivation and Background	60
5.2 Methodology	62
5.2.1 Microcosm Transconjugation Experiments	62
5.2.2 Selective Testing	65
5.2.3 PCR Analysis	67
5.3 Results and Discussion	68
5.3.1 Microcosm Iteration 0	68
5.3.2 Microcosm Iteration I	68
5.3.3 Microcosm Iteration II	70
5.3.4 Microcosm Iteration III	70
5.4 Conclusions	71
Chapter 6: Overall Conclusions and Future Study	73
Chapter 7: References	76

# **Definition of Acronyms**

2	ARB	Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria
3	ARG	Antibiotic Resistant Gene
4	<i>bla</i> <sub>KPC</sub>	Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase gene
5	CFU	Colony Forming Units
6	CRE	Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales
7	HAI	Healthcare-associated infections
8	HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
9	KPC	Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase
10	КРСО	Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase-producing organisms
11	UV	Ultraviolet
12	WW	Wastewater
13	WWTP	Wastewater Treatment Plant
14		
15		
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		

## 26 List of Figures

27 Figure 1-1. Flow pathway for antibiotic resistance to spread into various environmental communitities following discalrge from WWTPs. Antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotics 28 29 enter WWTPs, and can then be possibly discharged through final effluent into a receiving body of water or land-applied through compost made from wastewater biosolids. 30 Figure 2-1. The overall framework for the dissertation with Objectives 1, 2 and 3 having 31 interconnected goals. 32 Figure 3-1. Schematic of sampling locations. Red arrows indicate locations that were sampled. 33 Figure 3-2. Prevalence of KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* across each stage of the treatment 34 35 chain (hospital and municipal WW, WWTP compartments, and upstream/downstream water and sediment locations) across each of the sampling dates. Abbreviations: Hospital WW = Hospital 36 37 Wastewater, Non-Hospital\_WW = Non-Hospital Wastewater, Sec\_Aeration\_Basin = Secondary Aeration Basin, PreDis\_effluent = Pre-Disinfection Effluent, Upstream\_Sed = Upstream 38 39 Sediment, Downstream\_Sed = Downstream Sediment. The Non-Hospital WW, Upstream Water, Upstream Sediment, Downstream Water, and Downstream Sediment locations were aggregates 40 of the different locations sampled. 41 Figure 3-3. Abundance of KPCO across hospital and municipal wastewaters and different 42 compartments of the WWTP. Abbreviations: Hospital\_WW = Hospital Wastewater, Non-43

44 Hospital\_WW = Non-hospital WW, Sec\_Aeration\_basin = Secondary Aeration Basin,

45 PreDis\_effluent = Pre-disinfection Effluent.

46 Figure 3-4. Gram-negative bacterial abundance throughout the hospital and municipal

47 wastewaters, the WWTP compartments, and the upstream/downstream water and sediment

48 sampling locations across all sampling dates. Lactose and on-lactose fermenters were quantified

49 by culturing on MacConkey agar. Abbreviations: Hospital\_WW = Hospital Wastewater, Non-

50 Hospital\_WW = Non-Hospital Wastewater, Sec\_Aeration\_Basin = Secondary Aeration Basin,

51 PreDis\_effluent = Pre-Disinfection Effluent, Upstream\_Sed = Upstream Sediment,

52 Downstream\_Sed = Downstream Sediment.

Figure 3-5. Quantitative prevalence of *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> and 16S RNA abundances for sampled locations
along the hospital sewershed. The inset shows the solids stream. Samples with an asterisk(\*)
were only sampled on one occasion (Oct. 2020). The rest of the samples are averages from 3
sampling dates.

Figure 3-6. Phylogenetic tree of the relatedness of *K. oxytoca* isolates between environmental and clinical isolates. Asterisks (\*) denote isolates cultured from this current study and the other isolates are historical isolates from UVA hospital either from patients or the hospital environment (drain biofilm, p-trap water, or toilet water). The first column is the CAV# of the isolate; the second and third columns are the type of location where the isolate was found; the fourth column is the compartment of isolation; the fifth column is the month and year of isolation.

**Figure 4-1.** Quantitative ARB and ARG at varying chlorination (left panel) and UV doses (right

panel) taken from Stange et al., 2019. For both chlorination and UV radiation, the ARBs, *E. coli* 

66 (top left and right) and *E. faecium* (bottom left and right), were inactivated at lower doses than

those needed to decrease the ARG copy numbers. There was negligible decrease in ARG copy

numbers using UV radiation, but up to a 0.8-2.8 log reduction of ARG copy numbers for

69 chlorination at 0.5 mg/L free chlorine dose. The doses in this study, 0-30 mgmin/L for

chlorination and 0-60 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> for UV, are relatively similar to the doses that will be used in our

- study, 0-60 mg\*min/L free chlorine and 0-40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>.
- 72 **Figure 4-2.** UV apparatus used in the disinfection experiments.

**Figure 4-3.** Quantitative ARB reduction for varying doses of chlorination. KPC (blue) = *E. coli* 

with the  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  plasmid. Non-KPC (orange) = *E. coli* with no KPC resistance.

**Figure 4-4.** Quantitative ARB reduction for varying doses of UV radiation. KPC (blue) = *E. coli* 

76 with the  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  plasmid. Non-KPC (orange) = *E. coli* with no KPC resistance.

77	Figure 4-5. Percent repair of for the <i>E. coli</i> with the <i>bla</i> <sub>KPC</sub> plasmid under three conditions:
78	simulated light, natural light, and dark repair, at 3 and 24 hours, for varying doses of UV
79	radiation (5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm <sup><math>2</math></sup> ).
80	Figure 4-6. Percent repair of for the <i>E. coli</i> without the <i>bla</i> <sub>KPC</sub> plasmid under three conditions:
81	simulated light, natural light, and dark repair, at 3 and 24 hours, for varying doses of UV
82	radiation (5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm <sup><math>2</math></sup> ).
83	Figure 5-1. Widescale testing of selective plates to ensure that only <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i> transconjugants
84	would grow on the LB plates containing meropenem and rifampin.
85	
86	
87	
88	
89	
90	
91	
92	
93	
94	
95	
96	
97	
98	
99	
100	
101	

# 102 List of Tables

103	Table 3-1. Prevalence of KPCO at selected sampling locations. Green highlighted X's represent
104	KPC-producing Enterobacterales present. Sampling locations with no X were not sampled on
105	that particular sampling date.
106	<b>Table 4-1.</b> Literature overview of chlorination disinfection efficacy on ARBs and ARGs.
107	<b>Table 4-2.</b> Literature overview of UV disinfection efficacy on ARBs and ARGs.
108 109	<b>Table 5-1.</b> Iterations I, II, and III of the microcosm experiments with the donors and recipients         listed for each iteration.
110	Table 5-2. Results from Iteration 0 showing the detection of <i>bla</i> <sub>KPC</sub> in <i>E. coli</i> and the native
111	bacteria. All E. coli isolates tested positive for KPC and all of the native bacteria tested negative
112	for KPC.
113	Table 5-3. Results of the transconjugation experiment for Iteration I. Trancosnjugation was
114	observed for the microcosms with one of the donors, Raoultella planticola.
115 116	<b>Table 5-4.</b> Results of the Iterations. Far right column lists the result if any transconjugation happened in that iteration.
117	
118	
119	
120	
121	
122	
123	
124	

## 125 Acknowledgements

First off, I would like to thank my wonderful advisor, Dr. Lisa Colosi Peterson. None of this would have been possible if not for her. She has been an incredible mentor and always allowed me to build off my own ideas and passions that has developed into this dissertation. More than that, she has always been super supportive of me in all aspects of life, including health and mental health, and I can never thank her enough for that.

Another huge thank you to Dr. Amy Mathers. We met four years ago at a GIDI brewing event on antimicrobial resistance. Prior to that meeting, my dissertation was going in different direction, but completely altered course after that. So, thank you so much for being so open to collaborating with me. You have been so helpful and gracious in opening of your lab to me and a great mentor.

I would also like to thank the rest of my doctoral and proposal committee – Dr. James
Smith, Dr. Roseanne Ford, Dr. Andres Clarens, and Dr. Theresa Culver. Thank you all so much
for your invaluable feedback on my dissertation throughout my Ph.D. journey.

I would also like to give a major thank you to Dr. Shireen Kotay and Katie Barry. Thank
you for all your support and help. You have both taught me so much and I appreciate all of your
guidance and wisdom. I would also like to thank Joanne Carroll, April Attai, Hardik Parikh,
Kassandra Grimes, Limor Steinberg, Jasmin Melara, Dorian Nyugen, Ana Cerf, and Meredith
Sutton for all of your help in making this dissertation possible.

Thank you to all of my fellow labmates and all of my friends, both in and out of graduateschool, for all of the good times and keeping me sane.

Big shoutout to my partner, Richard, and my family, especially my parents, Andrea and
Cliff, for always being so supportive of me and my dreams. And thank you to my dog, Clover,
for attending all of my virtual meetings with me.

## **Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards**

## 160 **Publications**

- Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Colosi, L., Mathers, A. Evaluating the Efficacy of
   Wastewater Disinfection on the Proliferation of Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase
   (in preparation)
- Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Parikh, H., Colosi, L., Mathers, A. (2022). Tracking
   Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase gene as an indicator of antimicrobial resistance
   dissemination from a hospital to surface water via a municipal wastewater treatment
   plant. *Water Research, 213*, 118151.
- Singh, U., Loudermilk, E., M., & Colosi, L. M. (2021). Accounting for the role of transport
   and storage infrastructure costs in carbon negative bioenergy deployment. *Greenhouse Gases: Science and Technology*, 11(1), 144-164.
- 4) Grimes, K.; Dunphy, L.; Loudermilk, E.; Melara, A.; Kolling, G.; Papin, J.; Colosi, L.
  (2019) Evaluating the efficacy of an algae-based treatment to mitigate elicitation of antibiotic resistance. *Chemosphere*, 124421.

## 174 **Presentations**

- Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Parikh, H., Mathers, A., Colosi, L. *Fate of Nosocomial Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae producing Enterobacterales in a*
- 177 *Wastewater Treatment Plant and Receiving Waters*. Chesapeake Potomac Regional
- 178 Chapter of the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (CPRC-SETAC)
- 179 Spring Conference. Virtual. April 2021.
- Loudermilk, E.; Kotay, S.; Mathers, A.; Colosi, L. *Mitigating Antibiotic Resistance in Environmental Contexts.* Invited Speaker. Engineering Systems and Environment
   Department Seminar. Charlottesville, VA, February 2020.
- 183 3) Loudermilk, E.; Grimes, K.; Dunphy, L.; Melara, J.; Papin, J.; Colosi, L. Using Adaptive
   184 Laboratory Evolution to Quantify Antibiotic Resistance Potential in Wastewater
   185 Treatment Plant Effluents. CPRC-SETAC Spring Meeting. Caanan Valley, WV, April
   186 2019.
- 187

## 188 Awards and Fellowships

- 189 1) National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship, 2019-2022
- 1902) First-place Platform Presentation, CPRC-SETAC Meeting, April 2021
- 1913) Third-place Poster Presentation, CPRC-SETAC Meeting, April 2019
- 192 4) Graduate Assistance in Areas of National Need Fellowship, 2017-2019
- 1935) UVA Engineering Distinguished Fellowship, 2017-2022
- 194

## **195** Chapter 1: Introduction and Background

## 196 **1.1 Background and Motivation**

## 197 *1.1.1 Overview and background of Antibiotic Resistance*

Antibiotic resistance has become a pressing human health concern over the last several 198 decades with the continued widespread use of antibiotics, which leads to the evolution of 199 antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARBs). ARBs are of serious concern because they can infect 200 201 humans and animals with life-threatening infections that are very difficult to treat. It is estimated that over 35,000 deaths occur in the United States every year as a result of infections caused by 202 203 ARBs (CDC, 2019). Antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) can spread vertically through cell division and replication, transferring resistance from one organism to their offspring. ARGs can 204 also spread horizontally via transfer of mobile genetic elements from one cell to another within 205 206 the same generation (i.e., from a host cell to other cells that are not its direct offspring). The recipient cells can be of a different bacterial species, and can include pathogenic and non-207 pathogenic bacteria. This mechanism of ARG transmission is of particular concern insofar as it 208 could contribute to very rapid, widespread resistance to clinically relevant drugs. 209

210 *1.1.2 Wastewater treatment plants as a reservoir for antibiotic resistance* 

Antibiotics are essential for medical and veterinary purposes, but it is estimated that over 30% of antibiotics prescribed in the U.S. are unnecessary (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). Many antibiotics are not well metabolized by the human body and are becoming increasingly more prevalent in high concentrations in wastewater (WW) and in downstream receiving waters (Karkman et al., 2018; Noguera-Oviedo & Aga, 2016; Wang et al., 2020).

Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) have been identified as hotspots for ARBs and 217 ARGs (Rizzo et al., 2013) and may even lead to increased concentrations of ARBs and ARGs 218 through preferential selection and horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance features (Czekalski 219 et al., 2012; Luo et al., 2014). Thus, WWTPs are important reservoirs of antibiotics, ARBs, and 220 ARGs that have the potential to spread antimicrobial resistance into the natural environment. 221 222 Dissemination of ARBs and ARGs into the environment is of concern for several reasons, one of 223 the largest being the potential spread of ARGs to a wide variety of bacterial hosts, both 224 pathogenic and non-pathogenic, leading to large community resistance to classes of antibiotics. 225 Many clinically relevant ARGs are thought to have originated or spread from non-pathogenic bacteria in environmental settings, such as rivers, raising the concern about environmental 226 reservoirs as a pathway for widespread antibiotic resistance (Cantón & Coque, 2006; Finley et 227 al., 2013; Poirel et al., 2005). Human exposure to antibiotic-resistant bacteria in environmental 228 229 settings is also possible, resulting in serious infections, which has been documented previously 230 (Europe, 2011; Laurens et al., 2018). WWTPs make use of multiple processes (biological, mechanical, chemical, physical, etc.) to treat wastewater, which have different impacts on ARBs 231 and ARGs. Notably, WWTPs are primarily designed to reduce concentrations of nitrogen, 232 233 phosphorus, dissolved organic carbon, and pathogenic bacteria, but they are not designed to remove antibiotics, ARBs, or ARGs in their aqueous discharge or dewatered biosolids, and these 234 235 constituents are currently unregulated. The last step in WWTPs is typically disinfection, which 236 aims to inactivate bacteria prior to discharge from the plant. Studies have shown that 237 conventional WWTPs are ineffective in completely removing antibiotics (Noguera-Oviedo & 238 Aga, 2016) as well as ARBs (Czekalski et al., 2014; Michael et al., 2013; Rizzo et al., 2013), 239 leading to concern over their potential discharge into receiving waters and further dissemination

of antibiotic resistance in the environment. This also makes WWTPs an interesting node in a part

- of a larger pathway for antibiotics, ARBs, and ARGs to enter the environment (Figure 1-1).
- 242 WWTPs are contained system boundaries that have the potential through engineering
- advancements and technologies to play a critical part in halting the spread of antibiotic resistance
- by removing these antibiotic resistance constituents prior to discharge.



245

Figure 1-1. Flow pathway for antibiotic resistance to spread into various environmental
communities following discahrge from WWTPs. Antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotics
enter WWTPs, and can then be possibly discharged through final effluent into a receiving body
of water or land-applied through compost made from wastewater biosolids.

250

## 251 1.1.3 Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales as a model ARB?

In the last twenty years, there has been rising concern over the spread of Carbapenem-

- 253 resistant *Enterobacterales* (CREs), a class of gram-negative bacteria that produce
- 254 carbapenemases, which are  $\beta$ -lactamases that hydrolyze the carbapenem antibiotics.
- 255 Carbapenems are highly effective antibiotics often reserved for use in serious multi-drug

resistant (MDR) bacterial infections caused by extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing 256 Enterobacterales (Pitout & Laupland, 2008). The mortality rate is very high among patients 257 258 acquiring infections with CREs (Bratu et al., 2005; Cassini et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2008). In 2017, the World Health Organization identified CREs as the most urgent priority for antibiotic 259 resistance (WHO, 2017) and there were an estimated 13,100 hospital infections and 1,100 deaths 260 261 due to CREs in the United States alone (CDC, 2019). Carbapenemase genes are almost exclusively carried on large conjugative plasmids that can be horizontally transferred to other 262 263 bacterial cells. Carbapenemase genes are carried on plasmids, such as *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> and *bla*<sub>NDM</sub> (Bonomo et al., 2018). 264

265 The most concerning carbapenemase gene in the United State is the *Klebsiella* pneumoniae carbapenemase (bla<sub>KPC</sub>), which was first discovered in 1996 on a Klebsiella 266 267 pneumoniae strain in North Carolina and became endemic throughout hospitals in New York city 268 in the early 2000s (Yigit et al., 2001). From 2000-2010, KPC-producing organizations (KPCO) 269 spread throughout hospitals in the continental U.S. (Codjoe & Donkor, 2017; Munoz-Price et al., 270 2013). Fortunately, KPCO have been on the decline in the U.S. in the last several years and have 271 not been found extensively in the U.S. outside of clinical settings (CDC, 2019). Their limited 272 occurrence outside of clinical settings, in addition to the importance of limiting carbapenem resistance due to severe adverse health outcomes for contracting CRE infections, make it 273 274 particularly advantageous from a research perspective as an ideal model ARB for characterizing 275 wastewater-based dissemination of antibiotic resistance. In this dissertation, KPCO and bla<sub>KPC</sub> 276 were used as our model ARBs and ARG to better understand the impacts of WWTPs as an 277 important reservoir for antibiotic resistance and as a location for engineering intervention methods to mediate the potential dissemination of antibiotic resistance to the larger community. 278

# **Chapter 2: Research Hypotheses and Objectives**

280	The goal of my dissertation is to characterize the spread of antibiotic resistance spread
281	from a hospital into the natural environment and to assess to what extent conventional
282	wastewater treatment technologies are effective in mitigating the dissemination of ARBs and
283	ARGs. The first step is to characterize the flow of ARBs and ARGS from a point source
284	location, a hospital, through the different compartments of a WWTP, and into the natural
285	environment through the aqueous effluent (downstream receiving water) and solids effluent
286	(land-application of biosolids). The second step is to analyze how conventional WWTP
287	technologies fair in removing and inactivating ARBs using the traditional method by calculating
288	concentrations of ARB before and after disinfection. The final step is to develop and expand
289	upon a potentially more informative method for determining the potential for antibiotic
290	resistance dissemination through a novel effects-based assay of transconjugation microcosm
291	experiments.
292	Objective 1) Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from
293	hospital to natural environment
294	Objective 2) Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection
295	technologies for inactivation of a model ARB
296	Objective 3) Characterizing dissemination of wastewater-based antimicrobial resistance

297 to representative downstream microbial communities



**Figure 2-1.** The overall framework for the dissertation with Objectives 1, 2 and 3 having

303 interconnected goals.

# Chapter 3: Objective 1 Characterizing the occurrence and fate of a model ARB as it flows from hospital to natural

## 317 **environment**

The goal of Objective 1 was to characterize the flow and fate of ARBs and ARGs as they 318 319 move throughout an integrated wastewater management system and, subsequently, into the 320 natural environment. This was done by quantifying our model ARBs, Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales (CREs), in each section of the wastewater management system from the 321 source, the UVA hospital, through each compartment of the WWTP, to the downstream 322 323 receiving waters and sediments and the wastewater biosolids that are land-applied after composting. The work in Objective 1 was published in Water Research in April 2022 324 325 (Loudermilk et. al., 2022).

## 326 **3.1 Background**

Carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacterales* (CREs) are a subset of ARBs that are considered by the U.S. Center for Disease Control (CDC) to be one of the most urgent threats to human health (Lledo et al., 2009). The presence of CREs in community or environmental settings is of concern because it has been documented that exposure to CREs (e.g., via recreational contact or other means) can lead to life-threatening infections in humans (Laurens et al., 2018).

Hospitals are the main source of ARBs and other antibiotic resistance features entering WWTPs and this is especially true for CREs in the U.S., as carbapenem antibiotics are not typically used outside of hospital settings (CDC, 2019). UVA hospital, the source hospital for the model WWTP for Objective 1, has a documented history of CRE infections in patients, but also CREs persisting in the biofilms of hospital plumbing (Mathers et al., 2018). Therefore, it is
expected that our WWTP will be receiving influxes of CREs from the UVA hospital that may be
proliferating in the WWTP itself.

It has been well-documented that WWTPs do not completely remove antibiotics, ARBs, 339 or ARGs (Czekalski et al., 2012; McKinney & Pruden, 2012; Munir, Wong, & Xagoraraki, 2011; 340 Noguera-Oviedo & Aga, 2016; Rizzo et al., 2013; Stange et al., 2019; Yuan, Guo, & Yang, 341 342 2015). Previous studies have even shown that WWTPs provide suitable environments, with large 343 quantities and diversity of bacteria passing through daily with the elevated concentrations of 344 antibiotics for selective pressure, for the growth and spread of antibiotic resistance through horizontal gene transfer and conjugation (Li et al., 2010). CREs have been extensively found in 345 346 the receiving waters of other countries of the world (Caltagirone et al., 2017; Kittinger et al., 347 2016; Poirel et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2017). In the United States, Mathys et al. sampled 50 348 WWTPs and found that 15 of them, or 30%, yielded carbapenemase-producing bacteria (Mathys 349 et al., 2019). They also reported that WWTPs utilizing ultraviolet (UV) radiation had lower rates 350 of carbapenemase-producing bacteria (12%) compared to WWTPs utilizing chlorination (42%). 351 The goal of Objective 1 was to characterize the flow and fate of KPCO and *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> as they move 352 throughout an integrated wastewater management system and, subsequently, into the natural environment in order to better understand the fate and behavior of ARBs and ARGs in the 353 wastewater treatment process and identify potential areas for engineering intervention. 354

355

## 357 **3.2 Methodology**

358

## 359 3.2.1 Sampling Locations

Wastewater samples were collected from three different locations: 1) UVA hospital in 360 Charlottesville, VA, 2) UVA residential dorm buildings and an academic building, together 361 362 constituting our non-clinical "WW Control", 3) the Moores Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant operated by the Rivanna Water and Sewer Authority in Charlottesville, VA (Fig. 1). Within the 363 WWTP, samples were taken from the following locations: i) raw influent, ii) secondary aeration 364 365 basin, iii) digester influent, iv) digester effluent (prior to dewatering), v) pre-disinfection effluent, and vi) final effluent. Water and sediment samples were also collected on the same day 366 from upstream and downstream locations in the WWTP's receiving water. Water samples were 367 collected from five upstream locations (120-160m from the discharge point) and five 368 downstream locations (30-70m from the discharge point). At each of the water sampling 369 370 locations, sediment samples were also collected using a core sampler from the top 5 cm of the sediment layer. All samples were taken during three major sampling dates during September 371 2019, December 2019, and October 2020. Two smaller sampling dates during June 2019 and 372 373 July 2020 only had a few of the samples taken. Two final product compost samples were collected from the McGill Composting Facility in Waverly, VA in December 2020. This facility 374 accepts digested biosolids from the Moores Creek WWTP and other municipal WWTPs. One of 375 376 the compost product samples was made using wastewater biosolids among its feedstocks. The other compost product sample was made from non-wastewater feedstocks. All samples were 377 stored at 4°C for analysis within 24 hours of collection. 378



**Figure 3-1.** Schematic of sampling locations. Red arrows indicate locations that were sampled.

## 381 *3.2.2 Microbial Analyses*

379

382 Quantitative culturing was done by pipetting 1 mL of sample and serially diluting 1:10 six times with sterile water. Using a sterile pipette,  $10 \,\mu$ L of each of the six dilutions for each 383 384 sample were streaked on to both a MacConkey agar plate, which is selective from Gram-negative bacteria, and a ChromAgar plate, which is selective for carbapenem resistant bacteria and allows 385 386 for Enterobacterales and Aeromonas to grow as pigmented colonies. Colonies were incubated 387 for 24 hours at 37°C. After incubation, the mean number of colony forming units (CFUs) were recorded for each plate. For the enrichment analyses, samples were vacuum-filtered through 0.22 388 389 µm filters and the filters were added to a test tube containing 4.5 mL of tryptic soy broth and a 10- $\mu$ g ertapenem disk. After the test tubes were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C, a 10  $\mu$ L 390 inoculating loop was used to streak each sample onto a ChromAgar plate and incubated for 391

another 24 hours at 37°C. Unique pigmented isolates for both the quantitative ChromAgar plates
and the enrichment plates were subcultured on a sheep's blood agar plate for another 24 hours at
37°C and were saved for species identification via VITEK2 and PCR screening for
carbapenemase genes.

396 *3.2.3 PCR Analysis* 

The colonies isolated in 3.2.2 were screened for  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$ ,  $bla_{\text{NDM}}$ ,  $bla_{\text{VIM}}$ ,  $bla_{\text{IMP}}$ , and  $bla_{\text{OXA-48 like}}$ . A boil prep extraction was done by placing one colony into 100 µL wells and boiled for 10 minutes. From the boil prepped wells, 2 µL was pipetted into a new well plate containing 18 µL of mastermix containing reverse and forward primers, HotStart Taq, dNTPS, buffer, and nuclease-free water. For VIM, IMP, and KPC, a multiplex was done together and OXA and NDM were run separately. Samples were run on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Thermal Cycler with a positive and negative control and analyzed based on a C<sub>t</sub> value of 35 cycles.

All wastewater samples were also processed using real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) for 404 16S and KPC gene copy numbers. The samples first underwent DNA extraction using a Qiagen 405 Dneasy PowerSoil HTP 96 Kit. 2 µL of the extracted sample were added to 18 µL of mastermix 406 407 (PowerUp SYBR Green Mastermix, forward KPC/16S primer, reverse KPC/16S primer, and nuclease-free water). Samples were run in triplicate on a Bio-Rad CFX96 Thermal Cycler with a 408 positive and negative control and analyzed based on a Ct value of 35 cycles. Standards for KPC 409 and 16S were generated from  $10^2$  to  $10^9$  copy numbers to create a standard curve equation for 410 each primer set. Three standards, along with a negative control, were run with each set of 411 412 samples to ensure accuracy. The copy numbers for each sample were determined using the equation generated by the standard curve and averaged across the triplicate. 413

## 414 **3.3 Results and Discussion**

#### 415 *3.3.1 Detection of KPC-producing Enterobacterales*

Table 3-1 summarizes the presence or absence of KPC-producing Enterobacterales in 416 417 each sampled location by sampling date. KPC-producing Enterobacterales were consistently detected in the hospital wastewater and throughout most compartments of the WWTP; namely, 418 in the raw influent, secondary aeration basin, digester influent, and digester effluent. Every 419 420 sample from these locations yielded at least one KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* on every sampling date. In the final stages of the WWTP, that was not the case. KPC-producing 421 *Enterobacterales* were detected in the pre-disinfection effluent on only one of three sampling 422 dates. This suggests that the treatment processes prior to disinfection may be removing ARBs 423 424 even before disinfection. KPC-producing Enterobacterales were not detected in the final effluent on any of the sampling dates. This appears to indicate that the WWTP is effective at removing 425 426 ARBs prior to reaching the natural environment. KPC-producing Enterobacterales were not 427 detected in the upstream water and sediment samples. They were also not detected in the 428 downstream water and sediment samples, expect for one occurrence in the water column during September 2019. It may be of note that this is the same sampling date were KPC-producing 429 Enterobacterales were present in the pre-disinfection effluent. 430

431

432

433

- **Table 3-1.** Prevalence of KPCO at selected sampling locations. Green highlighted X's represent
- 436 KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* present. Sampling locations with no X were not sampled on
- 437 that particular sampling date.

Sample Location	June 2019	Sept 2019	Dec 2019	July 2020	Oct 2020
Hospital WW		Х	Х	Х	Х
Non-Hospital WW Control (different			v	v	v
locations)			Λ	Λ	^
Raw Influent	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Primary Solids					Х
Secondary Aeration Basin	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Digester Influent		Х	Х		Х
Digester Effluent		Х	Х		Х
Pre-Disinfection Effluent		Х	Х		Х
Final Effluent	Х	Х	Х		Х
Upstream Water (different locations)		Х	Х		Х
Upstream Sediment (different locations)		Х	Х		Х
Downstream Water (different locations)		Х	Х		Х
Downstream Sediment (different locations)		Х	Х		Х
Composting Products					х

439	Figure 3-2 shows the different strains of CREs detected from various sampling locations
440	by date. Many of the bacteria detected in the raw hospital wastewater can be traced throughout
441	the WWTP, reaffirming the hypothesis that the WWTP is the source of KPC-producing
442	Enterobacterales into the WWTP. This is also supported by the absence of KPC-producing
443	Enterobacterales in the wastewater control samples from other non-clinical UVA buildings.
444	Most of the CREs detected in the upstream and downstream water and sediment samples
444 445	Most of the CREs detected in the upstream and downstream water and sediment samples were <i>Aeromonas</i> species, which did not test positive for KPC. <i>Aeromonas</i> are intrinsically
444 445 446	Most of the CREs detected in the upstream and downstream water and sediment samples were <i>Aeromonas</i> species, which did not test positive for KPC. <i>Aeromonas</i> are intrinsically resistant to carbapenemases and they are unlikely to produce human infections(Queenan & Bush,
444 445 446 447	Most of the CREs detected in the upstream and downstream water and sediment samples were <i>Aeromonas</i> species, which did not test positive for KPC. <i>Aeromonas</i> are intrinsically resistant to carbapenemases and they are unlikely to produce human infections(Queenan & Bush, 2007). However, of huge concern was a <i>Klebsiella oxytoca</i> isolate recovered from one of the

that is not naturally found in environmental contexts. Genetic matching was done on this isolate
to compare it with a database of previously sequenced isolates collected from patients, but also
sink drains, toilets, waste hoppers, and other locations within UVA hospital. It was found that
this *K. oxytoca* strain was almost identical to a strain previously isolated from UVA hospital,
exhibiting genetic differences of less than 10 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). This is
very significant, as it almost assuredly indicates that the *K. oxytoca* strain found 37m
downstream of the WWTP originated from UVA hospital.





457

461

Figure 3-2. Prevalence of KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* across each stage of the treatment
chain (hospital and municipal WW, WWTP compartments, and upstream/downstream water and
sediment locations) across each of the sampling dates. Abbreviations: Hospital\_WW = Hospital

Wastewater, Non-Hospital\_WW = Non-Hospital Wastewater, Sec\_Aeration\_Basin = Secondary

- 462 Aeration Basin, PreDis\_effluent = Pre-Disinfection Effluent, Upstream\_Sed = Upstream
- 463 Sediment, Downstream\_Sed = Downstream Sediment. The Non-Hospital WW, Upstream Water,
- 464 Upstream Sediment, Downstream Water, and Downstream Sediment locations were aggregates
- 465 of the different locations sampled.

The quantitative measurements of KPCO across the treatment chain (Figure 3-3) show that the hospital WW had the highest concentrations of KPCO, at least a log-fold higher than the next-highest concentration, the raw influent. KPCO abundance decreased throughout the WWTP process, with a 2-log reduction to the post-digester effluent. This decreasing trend seems to suggest that the model WWTP is not actively amplifying KPCO, but is steadily decreasing KPCO throughout the WWTP process. No KPCO were subcultured in the pre-disinfection and final effluent sampling locations.



474 **Figure 3-3**. Abundance of KPCO across hospital and municipal wastewaters and different

- 475 compartments of the WWTP. Abbreviations: Hospital\_WW = Hospital Wastewater, Non-
- 476 Hospital\_WW = Non-hospital WW, Sec\_Aeration\_basin = Secondary Aeration Basin,
- 477 PreDis\_effluent = Pre-disinfection Effluent.

- 478 The abundance of Gram-negative bacteria (GNR) was realtively similar from hospital
- 479 watewater and non-hospital wastewater (Figure 3-4). Lower GNR bacterial populations were
- 480 observed in the pre-disinfection effluent (3-log reduction), final effluent, and







GNR\_Type 🖨 Lactose Fermentors 📄 Non-Lactose Fermentors

**Figure 3-4.** Gram-negative bacterial abundance throughout the hospital and municipal

- 484 wastewaters, the WWTP compartments, and the upstream/downstream water and sediment
- 485 sampling locations across all sampling dates. Lactose and on-lactose fermenters were quantified
- by culturing on MacConkey agar. Abbreviations: Hospital\_WW = Hospital Wastewater, Non-
- 487 Hospital\_WW = Non-Hospital Wastewater, Sec\_Aeration\_Basin = Secondary Aeration Basin,
- 488 PreDis\_effluent = Pre-Disinfection Effluent, Upstream\_Sed = Upstream Sediment,
- 489 Downstream\_Sed = Downstream Sediment.

## 490 *3.3.2 Quantitative Prevalence of bla<sub>KPC</sub> and 16S genes*

Figure 3-5 shows the quantitative prevalence of 16S and  $bla_{KPC}$  throughout the WWTP. As expected, the hospital WW showed the highest ratio of  $bla_{KPC}$  to 16S genes and the highest magnitude of  $bla_{KPC}$  compared to the rest of the treatment chain. Similar to the microbiological results,  $bla_{KPC}$  was present throughout the WWTP, but below the detectable limit for the predisinfection effluent and final effluent, as well as downstream in the receiving water. The  $bla_{KPC}$ gene does not appear to be significantly amplified by the WWTP process.



Figure 3-5. Quantitative prevalence of  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  and 16S RNA abundances for sampled locations along the hospital sewershed. The inset shows the solids stream. Samples with an asterisk(\*) were only sampled on one occasion (Oct. 2020). The rest of the samples are averages from 3 sampling dates.

501 Given the presence of KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* in the digester effluent on all 502 three sampling dates, it was of particular interest to investigate the fate of those organisms after 503 they leave the WWTP. The wastewater biosolids are transported to a local composting facility 504 and the compost (Class A biosolids) made from that facility are eventually land-applied as soil 505 amendment. We collected samples of the final composting products from that facility and found that neither of the composting samples contained KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* or *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>. This is reassuring that KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* are being effectively removed for both the aqueous effluent and the solids effluent.

#### 509 3.3.3 Genomic Relatedness of K. oxytoca Isolates

The discovery of the K. oxytoca isolate 37 meters downstream in the receiving water 510 prompts the question of the origin of the isolate. We took the K. oxytoca isolates found in this 511 study (4 from the hospital WW, 8 from the WWTP and the 1 from the receiving river) and 512 analyzed their genetic relatedness to historic K. oxytoca isolates from the UVA hospital (16 from 513 514 the hospital environment and 4 from hospital patients) found in Figure 3-6. The K. oxytoca (CAV8493) isolated from the downstream receiving water was a clonal isolate (less than 100 515 516 SNPs) to isolates found historically in UVA hospital, in both patients (CAV1374, CAV1755, 517 CAVP131 and CAVP26) and the hospital environment (CAV3083, CAV3248, CAV3258, 518 CAV6574, CAV6582), as well as an isolate found in the WWTP digester effluent (CAV8586). 519 This genetic relatedness between these isolates indicates this K. oxytoca in the receiving water 520 almost assuredly originated in UVA hospital and most likely spread to the receiving water via 521 the WWTP, despite the fact no KPCO were found in the final effluent of the WWTP. This raises 522 the concern that although the WWTP has strict disinfection procedures and appears to be removing KPCO and other ARBs, there is still the concern of some spillover, which can lead to 523 the spread of ARBs downstream in the environment. 524

Scale: 2000	CAV8609	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Dec-19
<u> </u>	CAV8608	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Dec-19
1	CAV8588	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Dec-19
	CAV3015		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Nov-15
<b>—</b> ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	CAV8694	*	Environment	WWTP	Sec_Sludge	Jul-20
1	CAV6597		Environment	Hospital	Toilet_water	Jul-17
	CAV8479	*	Environment	WWTP	Digester_influent	Sep-19
	CAV2694		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Jul-14
	CAV8404	*	Environment	WWTP	Raw_influent	Jun-19
	CAV6364		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Jun-17
	CAV1374		Patient	Patient	Peri-rectal screen	Aug-10
	- CAV6574		Environment	Hospital	Toilet_water	Jul-17
	CAV3258		Environment	Hospital	Toilet_water	Jan-16
	CAV8586	*	Environment	WWTP	Digester_influent	Dec-19
	CAVP131		Patient	Patient	Peri-rectal screen	Mar-13
	CAV1755		Patient	Patient	Abdominal_fluid	Dec-12
	- CAV3083		Environment	Hospital	Toilet_water	Nov-15
Ц.	- CAV8493	*	Environment	River	Downstream_water	Sep-19
	CAVP264		Patient	Patient	Peri-rectal screen	Jun-15
	CAV3248		Environment	Hospital	Toilet_water	Jan-16
	CAV8794	*	Environment	WWTP	Primary_solids	Oct-20
	CAV8579	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Dec-19
4	CAV2876		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Jun-15
	CAV1784		Environment	Hospital	P-trap_water	Sep-13
	CAV3805		Environment	Hospital	P-trap_water	Apr-16
	CAV7755		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Sep-18
	CAV8700	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Jul-20
	CAV8699	*	Environment	Hospital	Wastewater	Jul-20
	- CAV6577		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Jul-17
	CAV2845		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	May-15
	- CAV7622		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Apr-18
	CAV2768		Environment	Hospital	Drain_biofilm	Feb-15

525

**Figure 3-6.** Phylogenetic tree of the relatedness of *K. oxytoca* isolates between environmental and clinical isolates. Asterisks (\*) denote isolates cultured from this current study and the other isolates are historical isolates from UVA hospital either from patients or the hospital environment (drain biofilm, p-trap water, or toilet water). The first column is the CAV# of the isolate; the second and third columns are the type of location where the isolate was found; the fourth column is the compartment of isolation; the fifth column is the month and year of isolation.

## 534 **3.4 Conclusions**

KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* and *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> were found in high concentrations in 535 536 hospital wastewater and were present throughout the sampled WWTP. These findings were expected given the long-standing documentation of KPC-producing Enterobacterales in UVA 537 hospital's plumbing over the last decade (Mathers et al., 2018). KPC-producing Enterobacterales 538 were not detected in the final effluent of the WWTP and although KPC-producing 539 540 *Enterobacterales* and *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> were found in the digester effluent, they were not detected in the 541 final compost products made using wastewater biosolids. By using KPC-producing *Enterobacterales* as a model for ARBs, it was shown that the integrated wastewater management 542 system (WWTP and biosolids management) appears to be generally effective at removing ARBs 543 544 prior to discharge for both the aqueous and solid phases. While KPC-producing Enterobacterales were not detected in the discharge from the 545 546 WWTP, it was of significant concern that a K. oxytoca isolate was recovered 37m downstream of

the WWTP that was almost genetically identical to strains found in the UVA hospital and the
WWTP. Given that no isolates were recovered upstream, it seems likely that this strain was
transported to the environment from the hospital via the WWTP.

Results from Objective 1 provide valuable insights regarding how KPC, our model ARG, persists in the wastewater treatment process. However, there are still some concerns about the potential for spillover of ARBs and/or ARGs into the outflow via the effluent and the potential for spread of antibiotic resistance downstream to native microbial assemblages, especially given the *K. oxytoca* strain found in the receiving waters that likely came through the WWTP. Therefore, it is of interest to investigate the efficacy of different wastewater disinfection

- treatments on the removal of ARBs within the WWTP to prevent possible spillover of already-
- resistant bacteria to the natural environment, which is presented in Objective 2 (Chapter 4). But
- is also raises the concern of "spillover" ARBs that are released in the outflow of the WWTP and
- their potential to transfer resistance features to other bacterial hosts downstream of the WWTP,
- which forms the basis for the microcosm transconjugation experiments presented in Objective 3
- 561 (Chapter 5).

## 562 **3.5 References**

- Bonomo, R. A., Burd, E. M., Conly, J., Limbago, B. M., Poirel, L., Segre, J. A., & Westblade, L.
  F. (2018). Carbapenemase-producing organisms: a global scourge. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 66(8), 1290–1297.
- Bratu, S., Landman, D., Haag, R., Recco, R., Eramo, A., Alam, M., & Quale, J. (2005). Rapid
  Spread of Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in New York City: A New Threat
  to Our Antibiotic Armamentarium. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *165*(12), 1430–1435.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.12.1430
- Britt, A. B. (1996). DNA damage and repair in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 47(1),
  75–100.
- Caltagirone, M., Nucleo, E., Spalla, M., Zara, F., Novazzi, F., Marchetti, V. M., ... Paolucci, S.
  (2017). Occurrence of extended spectrum β-lactamases, KPC-type, and MCR-1.2-producing
  Enterobacteriaceae from wells, river water, and wastewater treatment plants in Oltrepò
  Pavese area, Northern Italy. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 2232.
- 576 Cantón, R., & Coque, T. M. (2006). The CTX-M β-lactamase pandemic. *Current Opinion in* 577 *Microbiology*, 9(5), 466–475.
- 578 Cassini, A., Högberg, L. D., Plachouras, D., Quattrocchi, A., Hoxha, A., Simonsen, G. S., ...
- 579 Cecchini, M. (2019). Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by
- 580 infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in
- 581 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *19*(1), 56–66.
- 582 CDC, A. (2019). Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States. US Department of Health and
   583 Human Services: Washington, DC, USA.
- 584 Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Antibioti Use in the United States: Progress
   585 and Oppurtunities 2018 Update.
- 586 Codjoe, F. S., & Donkor, E. S. (2017). Carbapenem resistance: a review. *Medical Sciences*, 6(1),

- 587 1.
- Czekalski, N., Berthold, T., Caucci, S., Egli, A., & Bürgmann, H. (2012). Increased levels of
   multiresistant bacteria and resistance genes after wastewater treatment and their
   dissemination into Lake Geneva, Switzerland. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *3*, 106.
- Destiani, R., & Templeton, M. R. (2019). Chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water. *AIMS Environmental Science*, 6(3), 222–241.
- Di Cesare, A., Fontaneto, D., Doppelbauer, J., & Corno, G. (2016). Fitness and recovery of
  bacterial communities and antibiotic resistance genes in urban wastewaters exposed to
  classical disinfection treatments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(18), 10153–
  10161.
- Dodd, M. C. (2012). Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation
   of antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 14(7), 1754–1771.
- 601 Europe, W. H. O. R. C. for. (2011). *European strategic action plan on antibiotic resistance*.
- Finley, R. L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D. G. J., McEwen, S. A., Li, X.-Z., Gaze, W. H., ... Topp,
  E. (2013). The scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 57(5), 704–710.
- Friedberg, E. C., Walker, G. C., Siede, W., & Wood, R. D. (2005). *DNA repair and mutagenesis*.
  American Society for Microbiology Press.
- Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2013). Microbial selectivity of UV treatment on antibiotic resistant heterotrophic bacteria in secondary effluents of a municipal wastewater treatment
   plant. *Water Research*, 47(16), 6388–6394.
- 610 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.012
- Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2015). Distinguishing effects of ultraviolet exposure and
  chlorination on the horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal
  wastewater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(9), 5771–5778.
- Harm, W. (1980). *Biological effects of ultraviolet radiation*.
- Hijnen, W. A. M., Beerendonk, E. F., & Medema, G. J. (2006, January 1). Inactivation credit of
  UV radiation for viruses, bacteria and protozoan (oo)cysts in water: A review. *Water Research*, Vol. 40, pp. 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.030
- Hoyer, O. (1998). Testing performance and monitoring of UV systems for drinking water
  disinfection. *Water Supply*, *16*(1), 424–429.
- Huang, J.-J., Hu, H.-Y., Wu, Y.-H., Wei, B., & Lu, Y. (2013). Effect of chlorination and
   ultraviolet disinfection on tetA-mediated tetracycline resistance of Escherichia coli.

- 622 *Chemosphere*, 90(8), 2247–2253.
- Karkman, A., Do, T. T., Walsh, F., & Virta, M. P. J. (2018). Antibiotic-resistance genes in waste
  water. *Trends in Microbiology*, 26(3), 220–228.
- Kittinger, C., Lipp, M., Folli, B., Kirschner, A., Baumert, R., Galler, H., ... Farnleitner, A. H.
  (2016). Enterobacteriaceae isolated from the river Danube: antibiotic resistances, with a
  focus on the presence of ESBL and carbapenemases. *PloS One*, *11*(11), e0165820.
- Laurens, C., Jean-Pierre, H., Licznar-Fajardo, P., Hantova, S., Godreuil, S., Martinez, O., &
  Jumas-Bilak, E. (2018). Transmission of IMI-2 carbapenemase-producing
  Enterobacteriaceae from river water to human. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*, *15*, 88–92.
- Lehmann, A. R. (1995). Nucleotide excision repair and the link with transcription. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 20(10), 402–405.
- Leong, L. Y. C., Kuo, J., & Tang, C.-C. (2008). *Disinfection of wastewater effluent: Comparison of alternative technologies*. Water Environment Research Foundation Alexandria, Va.
- Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., & Qi, R. (2010). Antibiotic resistance
  characteristics of environmental bacteria from an oxytetracycline production wastewater
  treatment plant and the receiving river. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(11),
  3444–3451.
- Lindenauer, K. G., & Darby, J. L. (1994). Ultraviolet disinfection of wastewater: effect of dose
  on subsequent photoreactivation. *Water Research*, 28(4), 805–817.
- Lledo, W., Hernandez, M., Lopez, E., Molinari, O. L., Soto, R. Q., Hernandez, E., ... Robledo, I.
  E. (2009). Guidance for control of infections with carbapenem-resistant or carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae in acute care facilities. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 58(10), 256–258.
- Locas, A., Demers, J., & Payment, P. (2008). Evaluation of photoreactivation of Escherichia coli
  and enterococci after UV disinfection of municipal wastewater. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 54(11), 971–975.
- Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Parikh, H., Colosi, L., Mathers, A. (2021). Occurence and
  fate of KPC-producing Enterobacterales originating from a hospital and entering a receiving
  water via a municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research*.
- Luo, Y., Yang, F., Mathieu, J., Mao, D., Wang, Q., & Alvarez, P. J. J. (2014). Proliferation of
  multidrug-resistant New Delhi metallo-β-lactamase genes in municipal wastewater
  treatment plants in northern China. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 1(1), 26–
  30.
- Mathers, A. J., Vegesana, K., German Mesner, I., Barry, K. E., Pannone, A., Baumann, J., ...
  Sifri, C. D. (2018). Intensive Care Unit Wastewater Interventions to Prevent Transmission

- of Multispecies Klebsiella pneumoniae Carbapenemase–Producing Organisms. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 67(2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciy052
- Mathys, D. A., Mollenkopf, D. F., Feicht, S. M., Adams, R. J., Albers, A. L., Stuever, D. M., ...
  Wittum, T. E. (2019). Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae and Aeromonas spp.
  present in wastewater treatment plant effluent and nearby surface waters in the US. *PloS One*, 14(6).
- McKinney, C. W., & Pruden, A. (2012). Ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic resistant bacteria
   and their antibiotic resistance genes in water and wastewater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(24), 13393–13400.
- MeiTing, G. U. O., Huang, J., HongYing, H. U., & WenJun, L. I. U. (2011). Growth and repair
  potential of three species of bacteria in reclaimed wastewater after UV disinfection. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 24(4), 400–407.
- Munir, M., Wong, K., & Xagoraraki, I. (2011). Release of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes
  in the effluent and biosolids of five wastewater utilities in Michigan. *Water Research*, 45(2),
  681–693.
- Munoz-Price, L. S., Poirel, L., Bonomo, R. A., Schwaber, M. J., Daikos, G. L., Cormican, M., ...
  Hayden, M. K. (2013). Clinical epidemiology of the global expansion of Klebsiella
  pneumoniae carbapenemases. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *13*(9), 785–796.
- Noguera-Oviedo, K., & Aga, D. S. (2016). Lessons learned from more than two decades of
   research on emerging contaminants in the environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*,
   *316*, 242–251. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058
- Organization, W. H. (2017). Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide
   Research, Discovery, and Development of New Antibiotics. *WHO Press*, 1–7.
- Pang, Y., Huang, J., Xi, J., Hu, H., & Zhu, Y. (2016). Effect of ultraviolet irradiation and
  chlorination on ampicillin-resistant Escherichia coli and its ampicillin resistance gene. *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 10(3), 522–530.
- Patel, G., Huprikar, S., Factor, S. H., Jenkins, S. G., & Calfee, D. P. (2008). Outcomes of
  carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and the impact of antimicrobial and
  adjunctive therapies. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 29(12), 1099–1106.
- Pitout, J. D. D., & Laupland, K. B. (2008). Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing
   Enterobacteriaceae: an emerging public-health concern. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*,
   8(3), 159–166.
- Poirel, L., Barbosa-Vasconcelos, A., Simões, R. R., Da Costa, P. M., Liu, W., & Nordmann, P.
  (2012). Environmental KPC-producing Escherichia coli isolates in Portugal. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 56(3), 1662–1663.
- 693 Poirel, L., Rodriguez-Martinez, J.-M., Mammeri, H., Liard, A., & Nordmann, P. (2005). Origin

- of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinant QnrA. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(8), 3523–3525.
- Prevention, C. for D. C. and. (2019). *Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States*, 2019. US
  Department of Health and Human Services, Centres for Disease Control and ....
- Queenan, A. M., & Bush, K. (2007). Carbapenemases: the versatile β-lactamases. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 20(3), 440–458.
- Rizzo, L., Manaia, C., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Ploy, M. C., ... Fatta-Kassinos, D.
  (2013). Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and
  genes spread into the environment: a review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 447, 345–360.
- Roller, S. D., Olivieri, V. P., & Kawata, K. (1980). Mode of bacterial inactivation by chlorine
   dioxide. *Water Research*, *14*(6), 635–641.
- Seeberg, E., Eide, L., & Bjørås, M. (1995). The base excision repair pathway. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 20(10), 391–397.
- Shih, K. L., & Lederberg, J. (1976). Effects of chloramine on Bacillus subtilis deoxyribonucleic
   acid. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *125*(3), 934–945.
- Sinha, R. P., & Häder, D.-P. (2002). UV-induced DNA damage and repair: a review. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 1(4), 225–236.
- Stange, C., Sidhu, J. P. S., Toze, S., & Tiehm, A. (2019). Comparative removal of antibiotic
  resistance genes during chlorination, ozonation, and UV treatment. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 222(3), 541–548.
- Stover, E., C. Haas, K. Rakness, A. O. S. (2012). EPA Design Manual for Municipal Wastewater
  Disinfection. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA/625/1-86/021 (NTIS PB98126618).
- Tchobanoglus, G., Burton, F., & Stensel, H. D. (2003). Wastewater engineering: Treatment and
   reuse. *American Water Works Association. Journal*, 95(5), 201.
- 720 United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2021).
- Wang, J., Chu, L., Wojnárovits, L., & Takács, E. (2020). Occurrence and fate of antibiotics,
  antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) and antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) in municipal
  wastewater treatment plant: An overview. *Science of The Total Environment*, 744, 140997.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140997
- Yang, F., Huang, L., Li, L., Yang, Y., Mao, D., & Luo, Y. (2017). Discharge of KPC-2 genes
  from the WWTPs contributed to their enriched abundance in the receiving river. *Science of the Total Environment*, 581, 136–143.
| 728<br>729<br>730<br>731<br>732 | <ul> <li>Yigit, H., Queenan, A. M., Anderson, G. J., Domenech-Sanchez, A., Biddle, J. W., Steward, C. D., Tenover, F. C. (2001). Novel Carbapenem-Hydrolyzing β-Lactamase, KPC-1, from a Carbapenem-Resistant Strain of &lt;em&gt;Klebsiella pneumoniae&lt;/em&gt;<br/>Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 45(4), 1151 LP – 1161.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.4.1151-1161.2001</li> </ul> |
|---------------------------------|---|
| 733<br>734<br>735<br>736        | Yoon, Y., Chung, H. J., Wen Di, D. Y., Dodd, M. C., Hur, HG., & Lee, Y. (2017). Inactivation<br>efficiency of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with<br>chlorine, UV, and UV/H2O2. <i>Water Research</i> , <i>123</i> , 783–793.<br>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.056   |
| 737<br>738<br>739               | Yuan, QB., Guo, MT., & Yang, J. (2015). Fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes<br>during wastewater chlorination: implication for antibiotic resistance control. <i>PloS One</i> ,<br><i>10</i> (3), e0119403.   |
| 740<br>741<br>742               | Zhang, C., Brown, P. J. B., & Hu, Z. (2019). Higher functionality of bacterial plasmid DNA in<br>water after peracetic acid disinfection compared with chlorination. <i>Science of The Total</i><br><i>Environment</i> , 685, 419–427.  |
| 743<br>744<br>745               | Zhou, X., Li, Z., Lan, J., Yan, Y., & Zhu, N. (2017). Kinetics of inactivation and<br>photoreactivation of Escherichia coli using ultrasound-enhanced UV-C light-emitting<br>diodes disinfection. <i>Ultrasonics Sonochemistry</i> , 35, 471–477.   |
| 746<br>747<br>748               | Zimmer, J. L., & Slawson, R. M. (2002). Potential repair of Escherichia coli DNA following exposure to UV radiation from both medium-and low-pressure UV sources used in drinking water treatment. <i>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</i> , 68(7), 3293–3299.  |
| 749                             |   |
| 750                             |   |
| 751                             |   |
| 752                             |   |
| 753                             |   |
| 754                             |   |
| 755                             |   |
| 756                             |   |
| 757                             |   |
| 758                             |   |
| 759                             |   |

# Chapter 4: Objective 2 Evaluating the efficacy of selected conventional wastewater disinfection technologies for inactivation of a model ARB

#### 763 **4.1 Background on Wastewater Disinfection Treatment**

Disinfection is used in WWTPs to inactivate pathogenic bacteria in treated effluents prior 764 to discharge. In the United States, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) enforces 765 766 wastewater effluent guidelines through the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) ("U.S. Environmental Protection Agency)," 2021). Disinfection techniques most 767 commonly used are chlorination and ultraviolet radiation, but other options are also used, 768 769 including ozonation, peracetic acid, nanofiltration, copper ionization, and others. In this study, 770 chlorination and UV radiation were the two disinfection technologies considered for several reasons. First, they are widely used in the U.S. with chlorination and/or UV radiation accounting 771 772 for disinfection in 96% of all WWTPs (Leong, Kuo, & Tang, 2008). Second, they utilize different mechanisms to inactivate bacteria (see Sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2), such that examination 773 774 of both together is expected to yield insights into the mechanisms by which ARBs and ARGs are inactivated. 775

#### 777 4.1.1 Chlorination

### **Table 4-1.** Literature overview of chlorination disinfection efficacy on ARBs and ARGs.

778

Source	ARB	ARG	Dose (mg*mi n)/L	Results
Stange et al., 2019	E. coli and E. faecium	tetA, ampC	15	780 3.8-5.6 log reduction of ARBs, 0.8-2.8 reduction of ARGs781
Yoon et al., 2017	E. coli	$amp^{R}$ and $kan^{R}$	33-72	4-log reduction of ARGs 782
Huang et al., 2013	E. coli	tetA	10	5-log reduction of ARBs
Pang et al., 2016	E. coli	bla <sub>TEM1</sub>	10	3-log reduction of <b>783</b> ARBs; no apparent reduction of ARGs
Destiani & Templeton, 2019	E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa	tetA, bla <sub>TEM1</sub> , sul1, mphA	30	784 1.7-log reduction of ARGs 785

Chlorine is the most commonly used wastewater disinfection technology in the United 786 787 States. Chlorine compounds used for wastewater disinfection can include chlorine gas, sodium hypochlorite, calcium hypochlorite, and chlorine dioxide, however, many facilities have 788 switched from chlorine gas to sodium hypochlorite for safety concerns related to liquid-gaseous 789 790 chlorine (Stover et al., 2012; Tchobanoglus, Burton, & Stensel, 2003). Free available chlorine (FAC) inactivates bacteria by breaking down bacterial cell walls via reactions with amino acid 791 side-chains and peptidoglycan (Dodd, 2012). The effectiveness of chlorination on inactivating 792 bacteria depends on the type and age of microorganisms. Older bacteria cultures require higher 793 chlorine doses, likely due to the increased development of the polysaccharide sheath 794 795 (Tchobanoglus et al., 2003). Chlorination is often followed by dechlorination because chlorine

residuals and byproducts are toxic to aquatic and human life. Sulfur dioxide is the most common

dechlorinating agent used, but sodium sulfite compounds are also used (Tchobanoglus et al.,

798 2003).

#### 799 4.1.2 Ultraviolet Radiation

800	Table 4-2.	overview of UV	disinfection efficacy	on ARBs and ARGs.
-----	------------	----------------	-----------------------	-------------------

Source	ARB	ARG	Dose (mJ* cm <sup>-2</sup> )	Results
Stange et al., 2019	E. coli and E. faecium	tetA, ampC	60	4.8-5.5 log reduction of ARBs, negligible reduction (0-1.0 log) of ARGs
Yoon et al., 2017	E. coli	$amp^{R}$ and $kan^{R}$	50- 130	4- log reduction of ARGs
Huang et al., 2013	E. coli	tetA	10	4-log reduction of ARBs
Pang et al., 2016	E. coli	bla <sub>TEM1</sub>	40; 80	40 mJ*cm <sup>-2</sup> for 5.5-reduction of ARBs; 80 mJ*cm <sup>-2</sup> for 1.2-log reduction of ARGs
Destiani & Templeton, 2019	E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa	tetA, bla <sub>тем1</sub> , sul1, mphA	200	1.2-log reduction of ARGs
McKinney & Pruden, 2012	MRSA, VRE, E. coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa	mecA, vanA, tetA, ampC	10- 20; 200- 400	10-20 mJ*cm <sup>-2</sup> for 4- to 5-log reduction of ARBs; 200-400 mJ*cm <sup>-2</sup> for 3- to 4- log reduction of ARGs

801

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation utilizes electromagnetic radiation (200-300 nm wavelength) to penetrate through bacteria cell walls and cytoplasm to inactivate bacteria through bacterial cell walls. UV light results in the formation of structural lesions on DNA, which inhibits cell replication. The most significant lesion produced by UV light in the is the formation of pyrimidine primers. Some microorganisms have shown the ability to repair DNA damage from UV radiation by removing pyrimidine primers via visible light reactions (photoreactivation) or 808 light-independent reactions (dark repair) (Friedberg et al, 2005; Harm, 1980; Lindenauer &
809 Darby, 1994).

#### 810 4.1.3 Effects of Wastewater Disinfection on ARBs and ARGs

Tables 4-1 and 4-2 summarize the literature data regarding the inactivation and reduction 811 812 of several ARBs and ARGs disinfected via chlorination and UV radiation, respectively. Overall, chlorination and UV disinfection reduce total concentrations ARBs of ARGs as shown in 813 numerous studies, but the effectiveness varies (Huang et al., 2013; McKinney & Pruden, 2012; 814 815 Stange et al., 2019; Yoon et al., 2017). Previous studies have shown that UV treatment has wide variability in the effectiveness against ARBs- it can select for certain strains of ARBs in effluent, 816 817 while also being more effective against other types of ARBs (Di Cesare et al., 2016; Guo et al., 2013). Guo et al., 2015 showed that low chlorine doses (less than 40 mg Cl\*min/L) can even 818 promote horizontal gene transfer of ARGs by 2-5-fold via chloramines improving cell 819 permeability, followed by increased pili on cell surfaces that act as pathways for ARG transfer. 820 Even if ARBs are removed prior to discharge, ARGs remain a concern as several studies have 821 documented that intracellular activity from deactivated ARB cells can still retain transforming 822 823 activity (Roller, Olivieri, & Kawata, 1980; Shih & Lederberg, 1976; Zhang et al., 2019). Several studies have investigated the impacts of different disinfection technologies on ARGs, but these 824 825 have had mixed results. Previous studies have documented that UV radiation results in 826 incomplete degradation for several different ARGs (McKinney & Pruden, 2012; Stange et al., 2019), including tet(A) (Stange et al., 2019), amp(C) (Stange et al., 2019), van(A) (Stange et al., 827 2019), erm(B) (Stange et al., 2019), and bla<sub>TEM1</sub>(Pang et al., 2016). McKinney and Pruden 828 (2012) and Pang et al (2015) found that UV inactivation of ARGs tested required doses at least 829 one order of magnitude higher than for the inactivation of host bacterial cells (i.e., ARBs) 830

(McKinney & Pruden, 2012; Pang et al., 2016). Figure 4-1 shows the results from Stange et al
(2019) for deactivation of *E. coli*, *E. faecium*, *tet*(A), and *amp*C, *erm*B, and *van*A, using various
doses of chlorine and UV (Stange et al., 2019). However, to our knowledge, there is not yet any
study documenting disinfection removal efficiencies for KPC-producing bacteria or *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>,
which may behave slightly differently under disinfection than other classes of ARBs and ARGs.





Figure 4-1. Quantitative ARB and ARG at varying chlorination (left panel) and UV doses (right
panel) taken from Stange et al., 2019. For both chlorination and UV radiation, the ARBs, *E. coli*(top left and right) and *E. faecium* (bottom left and right), were inactivated at lower doses than
those needed to decrease the ARG copy numbers. There was negligible decrease in postdisinfection ARG copy numbers using UV radiation, but up to a 0.8-2.8 log reduction of ARG
copy numbers for chlorination at 0.5 mg/L free chlorine dose. The doses in this study, 0-30
mg\*min/L for chlorination and 0-60 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> for UV, are comparable to the doses used in this

study, 0-60 mg\*min/L free chlorine and 0-40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. Figure from Stange et al., 2019 [used
without permission]

#### 846 *4.1.4 Photoreactivation and growth following UV-disinfection*

There are generally three explanations that account for the increase in bacterial counts 847 848 post-disinfection: 1) the growth and spread of bacteria that were uninjured during disinfection; 2) the reactivation of injured bacteria through light- or dark-repair; 3) the growth and spread of re-849 activated bacteria. The growth of bacteria after disinfection is highly dependent on the number of 850 851 bacteria eliminated during disinfection and the amount of nutrients present in the WW post-852 disinfection, among other potential factors. All three of these processes may be present in this study. Lower doses of disinfection would be expected to have more growth due to spread of 853 854 uninjured bacteria, while higher doses would be expected to have more growth and repair of injured and re-activated bacteria. 855

It has been well-documented that many microorganisms, including E. coli and other 856 pathogenic bacteria, can repair the damage done by UV, which weakens the effectiveness of UV 857 858 disinfection and raises concerns over the potential of ARBs to pass through the UV disinfection 859 process (Hijnen et al., 2006; Locas et al., 2008; MeiTing et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2017). This 860 process is called photoreactivation or light-repair. Bacteria can also repair themselves through 861 dark-repair mechanisms, which are light-independent (Britt, 1996; Friedberg et al., 2005; Harm, 862 1980). Considering that exposure to sunlight is practically inevitable for most treated WW effluents, it remains important to consider the potential for photoreactivation to occur. 863

The largest class of structural lesions induced by UV irradiation are cyclobutaneprimidine dimers (CPD), which account for 75% of UV-induced DNA products (Sinha & Häder, 2002). Photoreactivation is a process in which a DNA photolyase enzyme binds to the CPDs and

867	reverses the UV damage through light reactions (310-480 nm). Photolyases have chromophores
868	that absorb blue-light photons and transfers the excitation energy to a catalytic cofactor, which
869	can then donate an electron to a CPD and split the cyclobutene ring of the CPD with very high
870	efficiency, close to one dimer split for every blue-light photon absorbed (Britt, 1996). E. coli
871	have a <i>phr</i> gene, likely adapted from other bacteria, that codes for deoxyribodipyrimidine
872	photolyase, which can bind to a CPD with a folic acid cofactor. When that bond is exposed to
873	light, the folic acid cofactor absorbs a light photon and the energy can be used to break the
874	cyclobutane ring (Sinha & Häder, 2002). Hoyer 1998 found that a minimum dose of $30 \text{ mJ/cm}^2$
875	was required to achieve a 4-log reduction of ATCC 11229 E. coli.
876	Dark-repair mechanisms are more complex than light-repair as they do not directly
877	reverse UV-induced damage, but instead replace sections of damaged DNA with new
878	nucleotides (Britt, 1996; Seeberg et al., 1995). There are several different mechanisms for dark-
879	repair. One method is through base excision repair (BER), where DNA glycosylases recognizes
880	abnormal nucleotide bases, and then cleave cross-links in the DNA between the glycosidic bond
881	and the deoxyribose sugar, leaving an AP site. An AP nuclease removes the sugar-phosphate
882	group and then DNA polymerase is able replicate the missing nucleotide before the DNA ligase
883	seals it (Seeberg et al., 1995; Sinha & Häder, 2002). Another method is nucleotide excision
884	repair (NER), where large UV-induced lesions are removed by excinucleases. Then, DNA
885	polymerase is able to fill the gap of nucleotides using the opposite side of DNA as a template
886	with DNA ligase following up to seal it (Lehmann, 1995).

#### **4.2 Methodology**

#### 888 4.2.1 Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria

A laboratory-strain of *Escherichia coli* (E. coli J53<sub>rif</sub>) was selected to serve as a 889 890 representative strain of gram-negative bacteria for the disinfection and subsequent microcosm experiments, which are described in Chapter 5. J53<sub>rif</sub> E. coli was chosen for several reasons: 1) 891 E. coli is capable of repairing itself after UV disinfection (Locas et al., 2008; MeiTing et al., 892 2011; Zhou et al., 2017); 2) 1) E. coli is a gram-negative lactose-fermenting bacteria, similar to 893 894 CREs, so it may behave similarly under disinfection to other clinically relevant ARBs; 3) it is a competent cell that is suitable for the transconjugation experiments described in Chapter 5. Two 895 versions of J53<sub>rif</sub> E. coli were used in separate experiences: one non-KPC isolate, and another 896 897 that had been previously mated with a CAV1016 *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> plasmid (KPC isolate). These two 898 strains were used together in the disinfection processes, to evaluate whether the presence of 899 *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> would impact the effectiveness of the selected disinfection.

#### 900 4.2.2 Preparation of Bacteria

901 Protocols for ARB disinfection experiments were adapted from the studies summarized 902 in Tables 4-1 and 4-2. Colonies were grown from frozen bacterial stocks (40% glycerol, -80°C) and streaked onto sheep's blood agar plates and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Single 903 colonies were chosen using an inoculating loop and grown in LB broth for 12 hours (to reach 904 905 mid-exponential phase), then pelleted via centrifugation and resuspended in Phosphate Buffer Solution (PBS) to concentrations of  $\sim 10^8$  colony forming units (CFUS) per mL. The optical 906 907 density (OD) was measured using a nanophotometer adjusted to 1. Test samples were made in duplicate and underwent chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection. 908

#### 909 4.2.3 Quantitative Analysis

910 1-mL of sample was taken pre-disinfection and post-disinfection. These were analyzed 911 for quantitative counts. These samples were serially diluted 1:10 six times onto LB plates (w/ 1 912  $\mu$ g/mL meropenem for the *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> positive *E. coli*) and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. The 913 average number of CFUs per mL were recorded for each plate and CFUS per mL were averaged 914 based on the replicates.

915 Rate constants, *k*, for disinfection were calculated using a first-order reaction according to916 Chick's Law:

917 
$$k * t = -log \frac{[bacteria]_{time=n}}{[bacteria]_{time=0}}$$

#### 918 *4.2.4 Chlorination*

The chlorinating agent was a stock solution of 5 mg/L sodium hypochlorite solution that 919 920 was added to test tubes containing 10mL of the simulated effluent (E. coli in PBS) with varying 921 exposure times to simulate different free chlorine concentrations (0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2, and 4 mg/L 922 free chlorine) in the test tubes. Free chlorine concentrations were confirmed using Hach method 923 10241. Samples were gently shaken for their respective contact times. The chlorination process was terminated by adding 1.5% sodium thiosulfate as a dechlorinating agent. 1-mL of pre- and 924 post- chlorination samples were collected and analyzed for quantitative counts as described in 925 Section 4.2.3. 926

928

929	A laboratory-scale, benchtop collimated beam
930	UV apparatus was adapted from Bolton and Linden
931	(2003). It consisted of a germicidal UV sterilizing lamp
932	(Fischer Scientific) emitting monochromatic light at a
933	wavelength of 254 nm. UV intensity was $0.7 \text{ mW/cm}^2$ ,
934	which was confirmed using a UVC radiometer. 30 mL of
935	test sample were added to transparent, plastic petri dishes
936	(9 cm diameter) and fluence doses were applied (0, 5, 10,
937	20, 40, 80, and 100 mJ/cm <sup>2</sup> ) to the samples by UV light
938	at a constant intensity of 0.7 mW/cm <sup>2</sup> , but altering the
939	exposure time to achieve the desired fluence using the
940	following equation:



Figure 4-2. UV apparatus used in the disinfection experiments.

941

Dosage  $(mJ/cm^2) = UV$  Intensity  $(mW/cm^2)$  x Exposure Time (s)

Samples were gently mixed using a magnetic stirrer plate during irradiation. 1-mL of pre-942 and post- irradiation samples were collected and analyzed for quantitative counts as described in 943 Section 4.2.3. 944

#### 4.2.6 Light- and Dark-repair Experiments 945

946 After exposure to UV radiation treatments (as described in 2.1.2) of 5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> 947 doses (low, medium, and high UV doses, respectively), the test samples for both the non-KPC E. coli and the KPC-positive E. coli were exposed to three different light treatments: ambient light, 948

artificial light, and no light. Ambient light samples were placed on the benchtop with exposure to natural sunlight through the windows, which provided approximately 10 hours of daylight over the 24-hour period (completed in December in the Northern Hemisphere). Artificial light samples were exposed to an artificial light source, a fluorescent growth lamp (125W, 30  $\mu$ W/cm<sup>2</sup>), which provided 12 hours of light exposure followed by 12 hours of no light exposure. No light samples were placed on the benchtop with a box placed over the samples to prevent light from reaching the samples.

Samples under all three conditions were evaluated in triplicate and left for 24 hours following
UV disinfection of each of the three UV doses: 5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. All samples were gently
stirred using a stirring plate at room temperature (approximately 20°C). At 3 and 24 hours, the
samples were analyzed for CFU/mL concentrations as described in Section 4.2.3

960 Percent repair was calculated using the following equation,

961 % Repair = 
$$\frac{[bacteria]_{t=time} - [bacteria]_{t=post-disinfection}}{[bacteria]_{t=pre-disinfection} - [bacteria]_{t=post-disinfection}}$$

#### 962 **4.3 Results and Discussion**

#### 963 *4.3.1 Chlorination Results*

The resistant and non-resistant *E. coli* were inactivated appreciably via chlorination, as seen in Figure 4-3, with a 4.7-log removal and 5.1-log removal, respectively, for the maximum dose of 4 mg/L free chlorine. As expected, greater log-removal was seen as concentrations of free chlorine increased. The removal efficiencies at higher doses of chlorination of 2 and 4 mg/L Chl were comparable with ARBs in previous literature (Table 4-1), with our study exhibiting 4.1- and 4.7-log removal for the resistant *E. coli*. Interestingly, our results showed lower *E. coli*  970 removal for both the resistant and non-resistant *E. coli* at lower chlorine doses (0.5 mg/L free
971 chlorine), with only 1.7- and 2.7-log removal, respectively, compared to Stange et al., 2019
972 exhibiting over 5-log removal at the same free chlorine concentration. The resistant and non973 resistant *E. coli* removal efficiencies were comparable, so it does not appear that the presence of
974 *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> impacts the efficacy of chlorination.

975



**Figure 4-3.** Quantitative ARB reduction for varying doses of chlorination. KPC (blue) = *E. coli* with the  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  plasmid. Non-KPC (orange) = *E. coli* with no KPC resistance.

979

976

#### 980 *4.3.2 UV Results*

The *E. coli* samples were also disinfected via UV irradiation with UV doses from 0 to 100 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> (Figure 4-4). There was appreciable bacterial removal, especially at higher UV doses, with up to 6.1-log removal for the resistant *E. coli* and 4.8-log removal for the nonresistant *E. coli*. The removal efficiencies were comparable to the results found in literature (Table 4-2) (Huang et al., 2013; McKinney & Pruden, 2012; Pang et al., 2016; Stange et al.,
2019).

The resistant and non-resistant *E. coli* were comparable at lower UV doses, but exhibited a larger spread in removal rates at higher UV doses of 80 and 100 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, with the resistant *E. coli* averaging 5.8- and 6.1-log removal and the non-resistant *E. coli* achieving 3.9- and 4.8-log removal, respectively. While this may be due to experimental variability, this result is promising as UV disinfection does not appear to be less effective due to KPC-resistance, which has been seen in previous studies for other types of ARBs (Destiani & Templeton, 2019).



**Figure 4-4.** Quantitative ARB reduction for varying doses of UV radiation. KPC (blue) = *E. coli* with the  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  plasmid. Non-KPC (orange) = *E. coli* with no KPC resistance.

996

993

997 From the results, there does not appear to be an obvious answer to whether chlorination
998 or UV disinfection is superior at inactivating and removing ARBs, as both disinfections at higher
999 concentrations exhibited up to about 5-log removal (or 99.999% reduction) of *E. coli*. Neither

1000 disinfection appeared to be less effective at removing the KPC-resistant E. coli compared to the non-resistant E. coli. Mathys et al., 2019 had surveyed 50 WWTPs across the U.S. and found that 1001 1002 WWTPs utilizing ultraviolet (UV) radiation had lower rates of carbapenemase-producing bacteria (12%) compared to WWTPs utilizing chlorination (42%), so we had expected that 1003 perhaps UV irradiation would be more effective against ARBs. While both chlorination and UV 1004 1005 disinfection appear to be effective at inactivating the vast majority of bacteria and ARBs exiting 1006 the WWTP, these results fall short of fully illustrating whether chlorination or UV disinfection 1007 truly stop the dissemination of wastewater-based antibiotic resistance downstream.

#### 1008 4.3.3 Potential regrowth and repair following UV disinfection

With previous studies showing the potential for bacterial regrowth and repair after UV 1009 disinfection (Destiani & Templeton, 2019; Friedberg et al., 2005; Harm, 1980; Lindenauer & 1010 Darby, 1994), it was of interest to evaluate the ability of ARBs to repair themselves in the hours 1011 1012 post-UV disinfection. Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6 illustrate the regrowth of the resistant and the 1013 non-resistant E. coli, respectively. The two light treatments, both simulated and natural light, exhibited higher repair percentages than the dark repair simulation for 5 and 40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, which 1014 was statistically significant. This difference emerges by the 3-hour mark, which is consistent 1015 1016 with previous studies that have shown that E. coli observes the highest photoreactivation in the first 2-3 hours post UV-disinfection before leveling off (Zimmer & Slawson, 2002). Dark-repair, 1017 1018 while exhibiting less repair than the two light treatments, did exhibit substantial repair 1019 percentages with 10.5% repair for the resistant E. coli and 15.4% for the non-resistant E. coli at 40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, a UV fluence in the range of what would be expected at a typical WWTP. 1020

1021 There is a decreasing trend of *E. coli* repair for increasing UV disinfection doses with the 1022 highest observed repair being 31.5% at 24 hours for 5 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> for the resistant *E. coli*, but only

0.9% repair for 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. The 5 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> is a relatively low dose of UV fluence that only saw 1023 0.5-log removal, so it is perhaps unsurprising that there was a large amount of regrowth 1024 following UV-disinfection. At the highest UV disinfection dose of 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, there was very 1025 little E. coli repair for any of the three light treatments with less than 1.0% repair for any light 1026 treatment, which is consistent with findings in other literature (MeiTing et al., 2011). This was 1027 not surprising as 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> is a very aggressive UV dose, likely above what would be used in an 1028 average WWTP. At a fluence of 40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, in the range of UV dosage used in WWTPs, there 1029 was E. coli repair up to 22.7% for the resistant E. coli and 25.7% for the non-resistant E. coli. 1030

1031



1032

**Figure 4-5.** Percent repair of for the resistant *E. coli* with the *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> plasmid under three

conditions: simulated light, natural light, and dark repair, at 3 and 24 hours, for varying doses of
UV radiation (5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>).



**Figure 4-6.** Percent repair of for the non-resistant *E. coli* without the  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  plasmid under three conditions: simulated light, natural light, and dark repair, at 3 and 24 hours, for varying doses of UV radiation (5, 40, and 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>).

#### 1040 **4.4 Conclusions**

1041 Chlorination and UV irradiation were shown to be effective disinfection treatments against inactivating both the resistant and non-resistant E. coli, up to 5.1-log removal for 1042 chlorination and 6.1-log removal for UV irradiation. The photoreactivation and dark-repair 1043 experiments post-UV disinfection show the potential for E. coli and other ARBs to repair and 1044 regrow substantially in the hours post-disinfection, up to 32% repair at the lowest UV fluence. 1045 However, aggressive UV doses greatly reduced repair potential, with less than 1% for any of the 1046 light- or dark- repair experiments at the highest fluence of 80 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. Of concern was the 1047 significant repair of E. coli at the 40 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>, a fluence in the range that would be used at 1048 WWTPs, with repairs up to 22.7% for the resistant E. coli and 25.7% for the non-resistant E. 1049 1050 coli.

1051 While the efficacy of ARB removal for different disinfections is enlightening, this and

- 1052 the other previous studies fall short of fully illustrating whether application of the selected
- 1053 treatments truly mitigates the risk of wastewater-based antibiotic resistance dissemination to the
- 1054 receiving water and downstream environment. Additional research is needed to address this
- 1055 limitation, which will be addressed in Chapter 5.

#### 1056 **4.5 References**

- Bonomo, R. A., Burd, E. M., Conly, J., Limbago, B. M., Poirel, L., Segre, J. A., & Westblade, L.
  F. (2018). Carbapenemase-producing organisms: a global scourge. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 66(8), 1290–1297.
- Bratu, S., Landman, D., Haag, R., Recco, R., Eramo, A., Alam, M., & Quale, J. (2005). Rapid
  Spread of Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in New York City: A New Threat
  to Our Antibiotic Armamentarium. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *165*(12), 1430–1435.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.12.1430
- Britt, A. B. (1996). DNA damage and repair in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 47(1),
  75–100.
- Caltagirone, M., Nucleo, E., Spalla, M., Zara, F., Novazzi, F., Marchetti, V. M., ... Paolucci, S.
  (2017). Occurrence of extended spectrum β-lactamases, KPC-type, and MCR-1.2-producing
  Enterobacteriaceae from wells, river water, and wastewater treatment plants in Oltrepò
  Pavese area, Northern Italy. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 2232.
- Cantón, R., & Coque, T. M. (2006). The CTX-M β-lactamase pandemic. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 9(5), 466–475.
- Cassini, A., Högberg, L. D., Plachouras, D., Quattrocchi, A., Hoxha, A., Simonsen, G. S., ...
   Cecchini, M. (2019). Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by
   infections with antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in
- 1075 2015: a population-level modelling analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *19*(1), 56–66.
- 1076 CDC, A. (2019). Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States. US Department of Health and
   1077 Human Services: Washington, DC, USA.
- 1078 Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Antibioti Use in the United States: Progress
   1079 and Oppurtunitites 2018 Update.
- 1080 Codjoe, F. S., & Donkor, E. S. (2017). Carbapenem resistance: a review. *Medical Sciences*, 6(1),
  1081 1.

- 1082 Czekalski, N., Berthold, T., Caucci, S., Egli, A., & Bürgmann, H. (2012). Increased levels of
  1083 multiresistant bacteria and resistance genes after wastewater treatment and their
  1084 dissemination into Lake Geneva, Switzerland. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *3*, 106.
- Destiani, R., & Templeton, M. R. (2019). Chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water. *AIMS Environmental Science*, 6(3), 222–241.
- Di Cesare, A., Fontaneto, D., Doppelbauer, J., & Corno, G. (2016). Fitness and recovery of
   bacterial communities and antibiotic resistance genes in urban wastewaters exposed to
   classical disinfection treatments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *50*(18), 10153–
   10161.
- Dodd, M. C. (2012). Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation
   of antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 14(7), 1754–1771.
- 1095 Europe, W. H. O. R. C. for. (2011). European strategic action plan on antibiotic resistance.
- Finley, R. L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D. G. J., McEwen, S. A., Li, X.-Z., Gaze, W. H., ... Topp,
  E. (2013). The scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 57(5), 704–710.
- Friedberg, E. C., Walker, G. C., Siede, W., & Wood, R. D. (2005). *DNA repair and mutagenesis*.
  American Society for Microbiology Press.

Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2013). Microbial selectivity of UV treatment on antibioticresistant heterotrophic bacteria in secondary effluents of a municipal wastewater treatment
plant. *Water Research*, 47(16), 6388–6394.
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.012

- Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2015). Distinguishing effects of ultraviolet exposure and
  chlorination on the horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal
  wastewater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *49*(9), 5771–5778.
- 1108 Harm, W. (1980). Biological effects of ultraviolet radiation.
- Hijnen, W. A. M., Beerendonk, E. F., & Medema, G. J. (2006, January 1). Inactivation credit of UV radiation for viruses, bacteria and protozoan (oo)cysts in water: A review. *Water Research*, Vol. 40, pp. 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.030
- Hoyer, O. (1998). Testing performance and monitoring of UV systems for drinking water
  disinfection. *Water Supply*, *16*(1), 424–429.

#### Huang, J.-J., Hu, H.-Y., Wu, Y.-H., Wei, B., & Lu, Y. (2013). Effect of chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection on tetA-mediated tetracycline resistance of Escherichia coli. *Chemosphere*, 90(8), 2247–2253.

- 1117 Karkman, A., Do, T. T., Walsh, F., & Virta, M. P. J. (2018). Antibiotic-resistance genes in waste
  1118 water. *Trends in Microbiology*, 26(3), 220–228.
- Kittinger, C., Lipp, M., Folli, B., Kirschner, A., Baumert, R., Galler, H., ... Farnleitner, A. H.
  (2016). Enterobacteriaceae isolated from the river Danube: antibiotic resistances, with a
  focus on the presence of ESBL and carbapenemases. *PloS One*, *11*(11), e0165820.
- Laurens, C., Jean-Pierre, H., Licznar-Fajardo, P., Hantova, S., Godreuil, S., Martinez, O., &
  Jumas-Bilak, E. (2018). Transmission of IMI-2 carbapenemase-producing
  Enterobacteriaceae from river water to human. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*,
  125 15, 88–92.
- Lehmann, A. R. (1995). Nucleotide excision repair and the link with transcription. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 20(10), 402–405.
- Leong, L. Y. C., Kuo, J., & Tang, C.-C. (2008). *Disinfection of wastewater effluent: Comparison of alternative technologies*. Water Environment Research Foundation Alexandria, Va.
- Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., & Qi, R. (2010). Antibiotic resistance
  characteristics of environmental bacteria from an oxytetracycline production wastewater
  treatment plant and the receiving river. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(11),
  3444–3451.
- Lindenauer, K. G., & Darby, J. L. (1994). Ultraviolet disinfection of wastewater: effect of dose
  on subsequent photoreactivation. *Water Research*, 28(4), 805–817.
- Lledo, W., Hernandez, M., Lopez, E., Molinari, O. L., Soto, R. Q., Hernandez, E., ... Robledo, I.
  E. (2009). Guidance for control of infections with carbapenem-resistant or carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae in acute care facilities. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 58(10), 256–258.
- Locas, A., Demers, J., & Payment, P. (2008). Evaluation of photoreactivation of Escherichia coli
   and enterococci after UV disinfection of municipal wastewater. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 54(11), 971–975.
- Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Parikh, H., Colosi, L., Mathers, A. (2021). Occurence and
  fate of KPC-producing Enterobacterales originating from a hospital and entering a receiving
  water via a municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research*.
- Luo, Y., Yang, F., Mathieu, J., Mao, D., Wang, Q., & Alvarez, P. J. J. (2014). Proliferation of
  multidrug-resistant New Delhi metallo-β-lactamase genes in municipal wastewater
  treatment plants in northern China. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, *1*(1), 26–
  30.
- Mathers, A. J., Vegesana, K., German Mesner, I., Barry, K. E., Pannone, A., Baumann, J., ...
  Sifri, C. D. (2018). Intensive Care Unit Wastewater Interventions to Prevent Transmission
  of Multispecies Klebsiella pneumoniae Carbapenemase–Producing Organisms. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 67(2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciy052

- Mathys, D. A., Mollenkopf, D. F., Feicht, S. M., Adams, R. J., Albers, A. L., Stuever, D. M., ...
  Wittum, T. E. (2019). Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae and Aeromonas spp.
  present in wastewater treatment plant effluent and nearby surface waters in the US. *PloS One*, 14(6).
- McKinney, C. W., & Pruden, A. (2012). Ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic resistant bacteria
   and their antibiotic resistance genes in water and wastewater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(24), 13393–13400.
- MeiTing, G. U. O., Huang, J., HongYing, H. U., & WenJun, L. I. U. (2011). Growth and repair
  potential of three species of bacteria in reclaimed wastewater after UV disinfection. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 24(4), 400–407.
- Munir, M., Wong, K., & Xagoraraki, I. (2011). Release of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes
  in the effluent and biosolids of five wastewater utilities in Michigan. *Water Research*, 45(2),
  681–693.
- Munoz-Price, L. S., Poirel, L., Bonomo, R. A., Schwaber, M. J., Daikos, G. L., Cormican, M., ...
  Hayden, M. K. (2013). Clinical epidemiology of the global expansion of Klebsiella
  pneumoniae carbapenemases. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *13*(9), 785–796.
- Noguera-Oviedo, K., & Aga, D. S. (2016). Lessons learned from more than two decades of
   research on emerging contaminants in the environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*,
   *316*, 242–251. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058
- Organization, W. H. (2017). Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide
   Research, Discovery, and Development of New Antibiotics. *WHO Press*, 1–7.
- Pang, Y., Huang, J., Xi, J., Hu, H., & Zhu, Y. (2016). Effect of ultraviolet irradiation and
  chlorination on ampicillin-resistant Escherichia coli and its ampicillin resistance gene. *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 10(3), 522–530.
- Patel, G., Huprikar, S., Factor, S. H., Jenkins, S. G., & Calfee, D. P. (2008). Outcomes of
  carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and the impact of antimicrobial and
  adjunctive therapies. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 29(12), 1099–1106.
- Pitout, J. D. D., & Laupland, K. B. (2008). Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing
  Enterobacteriaceae: an emerging public-health concern. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*,
  8(3), 159–166.
- Poirel, L., Barbosa-Vasconcelos, A., Simões, R. R., Da Costa, P. M., Liu, W., & Nordmann, P.
  (2012). Environmental KPC-producing Escherichia coli isolates in Portugal. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 56(3), 1662–1663.

### Poirel, L., Rodriguez-Martinez, J.-M., Mammeri, H., Liard, A., & Nordmann, P. (2005). Origin of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinant QnrA. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(8), 3523–3525.

- Prevention, C. for D. C. and. (2019). *Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States*, 2019. US
  Department of Health and Human Services, Centres for Disease Control and ....
- 1192 Queenan, A. M., & Bush, K. (2007). Carbapenemases: the versatile β-lactamases. *Clinical* 1193 *Microbiology Reviews*, 20(3), 440–458.

Rizzo, L., Manaia, C., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Ploy, M. C., ... Fatta-Kassinos, D.
(2013). Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and
genes spread into the environment: a review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 447, 345–360.

- Roller, S. D., Olivieri, V. P., & Kawata, K. (1980). Mode of bacterial inactivation by chlorine dioxide. *Water Research*, *14*(6), 635–641.
- Seeberg, E., Eide, L., & Bjørås, M. (1995). The base excision repair pathway. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 20(10), 391–397.

Shih, K. L., & Lederberg, J. (1976). Effects of chloramine on Bacillus subtilis deoxyribonucleic
 acid. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 125(3), 934–945.

- Sinha, R. P., & Häder, D.-P. (2002). UV-induced DNA damage and repair: a review.
   *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 1(4), 225–236.
- Stange, C., Sidhu, J. P. S., Toze, S., & Tiehm, A. (2019). Comparative removal of antibiotic
   resistance genes during chlorination, ozonation, and UV treatment. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 222(3), 541–548.
- Stover, E., C. Haas, K. Rakness, A. O. S. (2012). EPA Design Manual for Municipal Wastewater
   Disinfection. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA/625/1-86/021 (NTIS PB98 126618).
- Tchobanoglus, G., Burton, F., & Stensel, H. D. (2003). Wastewater engineering: Treatment and
   reuse. *American Water Works Association. Journal*, 95(5), 201.
- 1214 United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2021).
- Wang, J., Chu, L., Wojnárovits, L., & Takács, E. (2020). Occurrence and fate of antibiotics,
  antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) and antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) in municipal
  wastewater treatment plant: An overview. *Science of The Total Environment*, 744, 140997.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140997
- Yang, F., Huang, L., Li, L., Yang, Y., Mao, D., & Luo, Y. (2017). Discharge of KPC-2 genes
  from the WWTPs contributed to their enriched abundance in the receiving river. *Science of the Total Environment*, 581, 136–143.
- Yigit, H., Queenan, A. M., Anderson, G. J., Domenech-Sanchez, A., Biddle, J. W., Steward, C.
   D., ... Tenover, F. C. (2001). Novel Carbapenem-Hydrolyzing β-Lactamase, KPC-1, from a
   Carbapenem-Resistant Strain of <em&gt;Klebsiella pneumoniae&lt;/em&gt;

- 1225
   Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 45(4), 1151 LP 1161.

   1226
   https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.4.1151-1161.2001
- Yoon, Y., Chung, H. J., Wen Di, D. Y., Dodd, M. C., Hur, H.-G., & Lee, Y. (2017). Inactivation
  efficiency of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with
  chlorine, UV, and UV/H2O2. *Water Research*, *123*, 783–793.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.056
- Yuan, Q.-B., Guo, M.-T., & Yang, J. (2015). Fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes
   during wastewater chlorination: implication for antibiotic resistance control. *PloS One*,
   *10*(3), e0119403.
- 1234 Zhang, C., Brown, P. J. B., & Hu, Z. (2019). Higher functionality of bacterial plasmid DNA in
  1235 water after peracetic acid disinfection compared with chlorination. *Science of The Total*1236 *Environment*, 685, 419–427.
- 1237 Zhou, X., Li, Z., Lan, J., Yan, Y., & Zhu, N. (2017). Kinetics of inactivation and
  1238 photoreactivation of Escherichia coli using ultrasound-enhanced UV-C light-emitting
  1239 diodes disinfection. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, *35*, 471–477.
- Zimmer, J. L., & Slawson, R. M. (2002). Potential repair of Escherichia coli DNA following
  exposure to UV radiation from both medium-and low-pressure UV sources used in drinking
  water treatment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(7), 3293–3299.
- 1243
- 1244
- 1245
- 1246
- 1247
- 1248

# Chapter 5: Objective 3. Characterizing dissemination of wastewater-based antimicrobial resistance to representative downstream microbial communities

#### 1252 5.1 Motivation and Background

As described in Chapter 4, there are limitations in using current qualitative and 1253 quantitative methodologies for truly determining the efficacy of WWTPs in reducing antibiotic 1254 1255 resistance dissemination since it remains unclear whether ARB and/or ARG in the treated 1256 effluents can disseminate resistance to microbial communities to the downstream receiving waters. The experiments summarized in Chapter 4 were relevant to discharge and propagation of 1257 1258 ARB that were already resistant before release from the WWTP. This chapter focuses on the extent to which the selected treatments mitigate possible transmission of antimicrobial resistance 1259 to other organisms, not present in the initial effluent, including those that exist in sediment 1260 communities in the downstream receiving waters. This secondary transmission is of significant 1261 concern because it could result in rapid proliferation of multiple resistant lineages within a single 1262 1263 environmental compartment via horizontal gene transfer (Finley et al., 2013; Rizzo et al., 2013).

1264 In this objective, we apply a "microcosm" approach to analyze whether ARBs and/or 1265 ARGs in wastewater-treated effluents are able to transfer resistance to select microbial 1266 assemblages. This approach simulates environmental conditions of treated effluents mixing with 1267 native bacteria, whose ability to uptake antimicrobial resistance features is not previously well-1268 documented. This microcosm transformation assay used in this study extends the methodological

framework that has been used most widely in existing literature, which has focused mostly on thekinds of methodologies used in Chapter 4.

1271 Transconjugation is the process of transferring genetic material from bacterial cell to bacterial cell through direct contact. In a previous study, Luo et al. (2014) used a microcosm 1272 experiment to document the transfer of the NDM-1 gene, the predominant ARG for 1273 1274 dissemination of carbapenemase resistance in Asia (Luo et al., 2014). An NDM-1-positive 1275 Achromobacter sp. strain was isolated from the aeration tank of a WWTP in China and 1276 inoculated with native river sediment bacteria through a 9-day microcosm. An indigenous 1277 bacterium, which was determined to be phylogenetically close to *Comamonas* sp., was isolated after 9 days, which contained the NDM-1 gene that was determined to be 100% identical to the 1278 donor Achromobacter sp. strain. This precedent shows the potential for transformation of CRE 1279 1280 genes to indigenous bacteria in receiving waters. To our knowledge, the work by Luo et al 1281 (2013) is the only existing study in which a microcosm approach has been used to evaluate the 1282 extent to which selected WWTP treatments truly reduce the likelihood of antibiotic resistance 1283 transmission to downstream microbial assemblages.

In this study, a laboratory strain of J53<sub>rif</sub> E. coli was used as a recipient in some of the 1284 iterations of the microcosm experiments used in Objective 3, the same used in the disinfection 1285 1286 experiments in Objective 2. The *E. coli* cells used were competent cells, meaning that the 1287 membranes of the cell were genetically modified to make them more receptive to taking up foreign DNA. Competent cells are more easily be able to take up the  $bla_{KPC}$ -carrying plasmid 1288 1289 than normal bacterial cells because of their weakened cell structure. The goal of Objective 3 is to 1290 determine the extent to which ARBs, such as ones that spillover from WWTPs, disseminate 1291 antimicrobial resistance to other organisms that exist in sediment communities in the

1292 downstream receiving waters. This was done through transconjugation microcosms to see if

1293 transconjugation would occur from the KPC-positive donor isolates to our KPC-negative

1294 recipient cells.

#### 1295 **5.2 Methodology**

- 1296 *5.2.1 Microcosm Transconjugation*
- 1297 *Experiments*

Microcosm experiments were 1298 1299 loosely adapted from the protocol from 1300 Luo et al. (2014). Three iterations of the 1301 experiment were performed, as described in Table 5-1. Iteration 0 was 1302 1303 the initial experiment performed trying 1304 to transfer *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> from a KPC-positive E. coli isolate to a KPC-negative E. coli 1305 1306 isolate. Iteration I made use of seven

**Table 5-1.** Iterations 0, I, II, and III of the microcosm

 experiments with the donors and recipients listed for each

 iteration.

Iteration	Donor	Recipient
0	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli w/ bla <sub>KPC</sub>	Sediment Bacteria
I	KPCO from WWTP (K. oxytoca, K. pneumoniae, A. hydrophilia, R. planticola, S. marcescens, C. freundii, Enterobacter cloacae)	J53 E. coli
II	KPCO from WWTP ( <i>R. planticola</i> )	Sediment Bacteria + J53 E. coli
III	KPCO from WWTP (K. pnuemonia)	Sediment Bacteria + J53 E. coli

individual KPC-producing bacteria, which had all been identified in the WWTP in Objective 1
(see Figure 3-2 in Section 3.3.1) plus a competent J53 *E. coli* laboratory strain as a recipient.
Iterations II and III made use of a single KPC-positive donor from previous WWTP sampling
plus the lab-grown competent J53 plus sediment bacteria collected from downstream from a

1311 municipal WWTP.

1312 In Iteration 0, the donor was the  $J53_{rif} E$ . *coli* mated with  $bla_{KPC}$  and the donor were 1313 sediment samples collected from the top 5 cm of the sediment layer from Moores Creek at a

location approximately 150m downstream of the Moores Creek WWTP discharge point. In this 1314 initial experiment, E. coli stocks were grown overnight in LB broth, then pelleted and 1315 1316 resuspended in R2A and then inoculated in triplicate with the sediment for 72 hours at 20°C and mixed at 150 rpm. At 72 hours, 1-mL of sample was taken and processed via quantitative 1317 analysis by pipetting 100  $\mu$ L of sample and serially diluting 1:10 six times with sterile DI water. 1318 1319  $10 \,\mu\text{L}$  of each dilution was streaked on to a ChromAgar plate, plates that are selective for carbapenem-resistant bacteria, and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Then, a random selection of 4 1320 1321 pink pigmented colonies (presumed to be *E. coli*) and 8 non-pigmented colonies (presumed to be 1322 sediment bacteria) were taken for each triplicate and analyzed for *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> using the methods described in Section 5.2.3. 1323

1324 In Iteration I, the seven *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>-positive donor isolates were *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, 1325 Klebsiella oxytoca, Citrobacter freundii, Raoutella planticola, Serratia marcescens, 1326 Enterobacter cloacae, and Aeromonas hydrophila. The donor isolates were all isolated from 1327 either patients or the environment in the UVA hospital and have been previously screened and sequenced. Individual stocks of these isolates and the E. coli were grown overnight in LB broth 1328 1329 (with 1 µg/mL meropenem for the donor isolates). Each of the donor isolates were pelleted and 1330 resuspended in R2A media in triplicate and combined with the J53<sub>rif</sub> E. coli recipient at a ratio of 1:7 donor to recipient ratio and inoculated for 12 hours at 20°C and mixed at 150 rpm. Samples 1331 were then analyzed using selective plating (as described in Section 2.4). Samples were also 1332 1333 plated on LB agar plates at hour 0 (pre-inoculation) to determine the transformation efficiency, 1334 which was calculated using the following equation,

1335 
$$Transformation efficiency = \frac{\# of transconjugants}{\frac{CFU}{mL} of donor isolate} * volume of donor isolate$$

In Iteration II, sediment samples were collected from the top 5 cm of the sediment layer from 1336 Moores Creek at a location approximately 600m upstream of the Moores Creek WWTP 1337 discharge point. Upstream samples were collected to ensure that the samples were initially KPC 1338 free before co-inoculation with the ARG donor. The sediment samples were processed via 1339 quantitative analysis by pipetting 100  $\mu$ L of sample and serially diluting 1:10 six times with 1340 1341 sterile DI water. 10 µL of each dilution was streaked on to a ChromAgar plate and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Sediment samples were also tested via enrichment analyses by vacuum-1342 1343 filtering samples through a 0.22-µm filter and adding that filter to a test tube with 4.5 mL tryptic 1344 soy broth (TSB) and a 10-µg ertapenem disk. After the test tubes were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C, 10 µL was streaked onto a ChromAgar plate using an inoculating loop and incubated for 1345 another 24 hours at 37°C. Sediment samples were also tested for  $bla_{KPC}$  using PCR Analysis as 1346 described in Section 5.2.3. No pigmented colonies grew on the ChromAgar plates from either the 1347 quantitative or enriched plates and the  $bla_{\rm KPC}$  was below the detectable limit, indicating that the 1348 1349 sediment was KPC-negative prior to the sediment microcosms. Sediment samples were also tested on MacConkey plates to identify the number of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. 1350

Based on the success of producing J53<sub>rif</sub> *E. coli* transconjugants from Iteration I, *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>positive *Raoultella planticola* (CAV 2118) was chosen as the donor for the sediment microcosm experiments in Iteration II and *Klebsiella pnuemoniae* (CAV1016) was chosen for Iteration III. *R. planticola* and *K. pnumoniae* were grown overnight in LB (with 1µg/mL meropenem) and then pelleted and resuspended in R2A with the KPC-negative sediment samples in duplicate. Microcosms were inoculated for 12 hours at 20°C and mixed at 150 rpm and then serially diluted 1:10 six times and streaked on ChromAgar for 24 hours at 37°C. Any pigmented colonies were

subcultured onto sheep's blood agar and analyzed for KPC via PCR. Non-pigmented colonieswere subcultured and analyzed using the mCIM method (as described in Section 2.4).

In Iterations II and III, there were three sample conditions run in triplicate: positive
controls, consisting of the donor isolate, the sediment, and the J53<sub>rif</sub> *E. coli*; experimental control,
consisting of the donor isolate and the sediment; and a negative control, consisting of the
sediment.

1364 *5.2.2 Selective Testing* 

1365 In Iteration I, after 12 hours, microcosm samples were serially diluted six times (1:10) in sterile DI water and plated on selective LB plates (0.5 µg/mL meropenem and 250 µg/mL 1366 1367 rifampicin or 600 µg/mL for the K. pneumoniae microcosm) and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. 1368 Any colonies that grew on those selective plates were subcultured on sheep's blood agar plates 1369 and tested for KPC using PCR. This process was used because only E. coli transconjugants should grow on the double selective plates because the addition of 0.5 µg/mL meropenem should 1370 1371 select for bacteria that produce carbapenemases, and the 250 µg/mL rifampicin should select 1372 only E. coli and not any of the donor organisms. This was confirmed prior to the experiment 1373 through a wide testing of all recipients, donors, and a known E. coli transconjugant that served as a positive control on different concentrations of meropenem plates, rifampicin plates, and 1374 1375 meropenem plus rifampicin plates (Figure 5-1). An increased dose of  $600 \,\mu$ g/mL rifampicin was 1376 used for the microcosms containing the K. pneumoniae donor because K. pneumoniae grew on plates containing only 250 µg/mL rifampicin. 1377



Figure 5-1. Widescale testing of selective plates to ensure that only *E*.*coli* transconjugants
would grow on the LB plates containing meropenem and rifampin.

1381

1378

1382 In Iterations II and III, colonies that grew on ChromAgar were tested using the modified carabapenemase inactivation method (mCIM). 1  $\mu$ L of each test isolate was added to 2  $\mu$ L of 1383 1384 TSB broth and a 10-µg meropenem disk and incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. A lawn of 0.5 1385 MacFarland solution of Escherichia coli ATCC 25922 was streaked onto a Mueller Hinton agar 1386 plate. After 4 hours, the meropenem disks were removed from the tube using a 10-µL inoculating loop and placed onto the Mueller Hinton agar plate and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and then 1387 analyzed for presence or absence of a zone of inhibition around the meropenem disk as follows: 1388 1389 cabapenemase-positive if the test isolate inactivates the meropenem in the disk and grows up to the disk; carbapenamase-negative if a zone of inhibition of >20 mm appears around the 1390 meropenem disk. Carbapenemase-positive colonies were then also confirmed using PCR. 1391 1392

1393 *5.2.3 PCR Analysis* 

Isolates from the microcosm experiments that grew on either the selective LB plates (Iteration 1394 I) or were carbapenemase-producing from the Mueller Hinton plates (Iteration II) were screened 1395 for  $bla_{KPC}$  via PCR to confirm the presence of the KPC gene. A boil prep extraction was done by 1396 placing one colony into 100  $\mu$ L wells and boiled for 10 minutes. 2  $\mu$ L of the boiled prep sample 1397 1398 was added to a well plate containing 18  $\mu$ L of a mastermix consisting of reverse and forward 1399 KPC primers, PowerUp SYBR Green Mastermix, and nuclease-free water. Samples were run on 1400 a Bio-Rad CFX96 Thermal Cycler with a method adapted from a previous study (Dallene et al., 1401  $(2010)^{19}$  with a positive and negative control and analyzed based on a C<sub>1</sub>value of 35 cycles. Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was done on the sediment samples prior to the microcosm 1402 experiment to ensure it was KPC-negative. The samples were extracted using a Qiagen DNEasy 1403 PowerSoil HTP 96 Kit.  $2 \,\mu$ L of the extracted sample was added to the same mastermix 1404 1405 mentioned above. Samples were run in triplicate on the Bio-Rad CFX96 Thermal Cycler against 1406 three standards for KPC and 16S ( $10^4$ ,  $10^6$ ,  $10^8$  copy numbers), which had previously been used to make a standard curve, ranging from 10<sup>2</sup> to 10<sup>9</sup> copy numbers. Copy numbers for each sample 1407 were calculated using the equation generated from the standard curve and averaged across the 1408 1409 triplicate.

In Iteration I, isolates that grew on the selective LB plates and tested positive for *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>
were confirmed as *Escheriela coli* transconjugants through species identification via the VITEK2
(Biomerieux, Durham, NC).

1413

1414

1417

- 1418 5.3.1 Microcosm Iteration 0
- 1419 My initial hypothesis for
- 1420 Iteration 0 of the microcosm
- 1421 experiment, based on the Luo et al
- 1422 (2014) study involving the NDM-1
- 1423 gene (Luo et al., 2014), was that
- 1424  $bla_{\rm KPC}$  would be transferred from the
- 1425 donor *E. coli* strain to one or more of
- 1426 the indigenous bacteria in the river

**Table 5-2.** Results from Iteration 0 showing the detection of  $bla_{\text{KPC}}$  in *E. coli* and the native bacteria. All E. coli isolates tested positive for KPC and all of the native bacteria tested negative for KPC.

		Ti	ime
		0 hrs	72 hrs
	E. coli	N/A	N/A
Control	Native Bacteria	KPC-	KPC-
Pre-	E. coli	KPC+	KPC+
chlorination	Native Bacteria	KPC-	KPC-
Post-	E. coli	KPC+	KPC+
chlorination	Native Bacteria	KPC-	KPC-

sediment. However, this transfer was not observed (Table 5-2). Twelve *E. coli* isolates (the donor
strain) were randomly selected from plates inoculated with pre- and post- treatment test
solutions. All of these isolates tested positive for KPC at 0 hours. This analysis was repeated at
72 hours and yielded the same result. None of the indigenous sediment bacteria isolates taken
from the control, pre-chlorination, or post-chlorination samples tested positive for KPC at either
the 0- or 72-hour mark. Species identification was not done for either of the experiments because
none of the indigenous bacteria isolates tested positive for KPC.

1434 5.3.2 Microcosm Iteration I

Following the initial Iteration 0 experiment, the methodology was refined prior to the next three iterations to better selectively test for experimental isolates (selective testing for

1437 Iteration I and mCIM testing for Iterations II and III).

1438	In Iteration I, seven donors from KPCO observed in the WWTP in Objective 1, were
1439	used to see if any transconjugation would occur to our positive control donors, the J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli.
1440	The only microcosms to yield KPC-positive E. coli transconjuagnts, (i.e., successful transfer of
1441	the plasmid with $bla_{KPC}$ from a donor KPCO to <i>E. coli</i> ) were the microcosms containing the
1442	donor Raoultella planticola (Table 5-3). This transformation was consistent across duplicate
1443	microcosms on two separate runs of Iteration I. All other microcosms did not exhibit
1444	transconjugation (no growth on the selective plates). Successful transfer of $bla_{KPC}$ indicates the
1445	potential for the spread of KPC resistance within and downstream of the WWTP if ARBs are
1446	able to spill over, as we saw with the K. oxytoca strain in Objective 1.

**Table 5-3.** Results of the transconjugation experiment for Iteration I. Trancosnjugation was
observed for the microcosms with one of the donors, *Raoultella planticola*.

Donor	Recipient	Did Transconjugation Occur?
Aeromonas hydrophilia (CAVP338)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No
Citrobacter freundii (CAV1857)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No
Enterobacter cloacae (CAV1778)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No
Klebsiella oxytoca (CAV8493)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No
Klebsiella Pneumoniae (CAV1016)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No
Raoultella planticola (CAV2118)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	Yes
Serratia marcescens (CAV1492)	J53 <sub>rif</sub> E. coli	No

#### 1450 5.3.3 Microcosm Iteration II

In Iteration II, we used the successful donor from Iteration I, Raoultella planticola, as the 1451 donor. As we saw in Iteration I, there was successful transfer of the  $bla_{\rm KPC}$  from the donor, R. 1452 planticola, to E. coli in the positive control samples. However, there was no transconjugation 1453 seen from the *R. planticola* to the native sediment bacteria recipients. However, the number of 1454 1455 potential recipients were limited by the growth of the *R. planticola*, which limited the number of native sediment colonies (n = 10), we were able to isolate. Therefore, we repeated this iteration 1456 with a decrease in the amount of starting *R*. *planticola* donors from ~ $10^8$  to  $10^6$  CFUs/mL in 1457 1458 order to provide more ample opportunity for observing transconjugation to occur to the native sediment bacteria colonies, which we will call Iteration IIb. 1459

In Iteration IIb, we were able to isolate more of the native sediment bacteria colonies
(n=21). However, all of these colonies were KPC-negative, meaning that once again
transconjugation was not seen from the donor to the native sediment bacteria colonies. Similar to
Iteration IIa, transconjugation did still occur in the positive control between the *R. planticola* and
the *E. coli*.

#### 1465 5.3.4 Microcosm Iteration III

Having not seen transconjugation occur between the donor and the native sediment bacteria in either Iteration IIa or IIb using the *R. planticola* donor, the experiment was repeated using a different potential donor, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, one of the donors used in the Iteration I experiment. In Iteration III, there was once again no observable transonjugation that occurred between the donor *K. pneumoniae* and the native sediment bacteria as none of the sediment isolates (n =22) picked up the  $bla_{KPC}$  gene. However, unlike Iteration IIa and IIb, there was no

- 1472 transconjugation between the donor *K. pneumoniae* and the *E. coli* in the positive control sample,
- 1473 which is consistent with the findings from Iteration I.
- 1474 Table 5-4. Results of the Iterations. Far right column lists the result if any transconjugation1475 happened in that iteration.

Iteration	Donor	Recipient	Results
Iteration 0	J53 E. coli w/ bla <sub>KPC</sub>	Sediment bacteria	No transconjugants
Iteration I (selective plating)	7 donors from WWTP	J53 E. coli	Transconjugants ( <i>Raoultella -&gt; E. coli</i> )
Iteration IIa (mCIM)	CAV2118 Raoultella planticola	Sediment bacteria, J53 <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i>	Transconjugants ( <i>Raoultella -&gt; E. coli</i> ) No sediment transconjugants
Iteration IIb (mCIM)- less donors	CAV2118 Raoultella planticola	Sediment bacteria, J53 <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i>	Transconjugants ( <i>Raoultella -&gt; E. coli</i> ) No sediment transconjugants
Iteration III (mCIM)	CAV1016 Klebsiella pneumoniae	Sediment bacteria, J53 <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i>	No transconjugants

1476

#### 1477 **5.4 Conclusions**

Successful transfer of the KPC plasmid from a *R. planticola* to a competent J53 *E. coli*strain in Iterations I, IIa, and IIb illustrates the potential for concern for regarding dissemination
antimicrobial resistance from KPC-producing bacteria to other bacterial recipients in receiving
waters of WWTPs. However, ultimately, we did not see the transconjugation of any

1482	environmental sediment bacteria when exposed to the KPCO donors in the microcosm
1483	experiments. While transconjugation could potentially still occur naturally downstream of the
1484	WWTP, it seems unlikely given the highly inflated concentrations of KPCO donors in the
1485	microcosm experiments, whereas we only observed one instance of a KPCO existing in the
1486	downstream receiving waters and sediments in all sampling dates in Objective 1. While this is
1487	good news from a human health perspective, there is a strong risk of KPCO and other ARB
1488	spillover into natural environments, especially at WWTPs where WW disinfection practices may
1489	not be as stringent or reliable. Further research is needed to look at other WWTPs than the one
1490	described in this dissertation and the use of the microcosm transconjugation study described in
1491	this chapter is an excellent tool for realizing the potential risks of ARB dissemination to different
1492	microbiological communities of downstream environments.
## 1504 Chapter 6: Overall Conclusions and Future Study

## 1505 6.1 Research Conclusions

This dissertation evaluated the risk and potential of the antibiotic resistance spread in the 1506 1507 natural environment and the role wastewater treatment plants play, as laid out in the three objectives discussed in this proposal. Objective 1 used KPC-producing Enterobacterales as a 1508 model for antibiotic resistance fate and behavior through a WWTP. We were able to identify the 1509 1510 model WWTP as a potential reservoir for KPC-producing organisms and *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> KPCO were present throughout all compartments of the WWTP, except for the final effluent, and appear to 1511 be largely linked to the hospital WW influent. Although no KPCO were identified in the final 1512 effluent of the WWTP, a K. oxytoca strain was isolated from downstream receiving waters that 1513 1514 was almost identical to K. oxytoca strains historically found in the UVA hospital, raising concern 1515 that KPCO may be passing through the WWTP. Objective 2 replicated previous literature in 1516 analyzing conventional wastewater disinfection technologies in activating ARBs and adapts it to analyzing the removal of KPC-producing bacteria. Chlorination exhibited up to 4.7-log removal 1517 1518 of the ARB, while UV irradiation exhibited up to 6.1-log removal. The E. coli were able to repair themselves post-UV disinfection, which was aided by exposure to light, either artificial or 1519 1520 natural sunlight. Objective 3 took a novel effects-based approach at evaluating the potential for 1521 transformation of indigenous bacteria through microcosm transconjugation experiments. We were successful in transferring the KPC plasmid from donor KPCO to J53 E. coli, demonstrating 1522 potential concern for transconjugation in downstream environments if KPCO are able to escape 1523 the WWTP. However, we did not see any transconjugation from donor KPCO to bacteria 1524 natively found in the WWTP receiving waters and sediment, making it seemingly unlikely for 1525

transconjugation to occur in this natural environment, however the possibility remains for otherWWTPs and their receiving environments.

## 1528 6.2 Recommendations for Future Study

This dissertation utilized one single WWTP and focuses on KPC-producing bacteria, but has larger implications for our scientific community's collective knowledge on environmental antibiotic resistance spread and the effectiveness of current wastewater technologies are in reducing spread. However, there is more research than can and should be done in future works to better understand the risks of the dissemination of ARBs and ARGs from WWTPs into the native environment. Therefore, I would recommend the following:

1. A more widescale, comprehensive study of KPC-producing bacteria and  $bla_{KPC}$  in 1535 1536 WWTPs and receiving waters and sediments throughout the United States. Since we were 1537 able to identify a K. oxytoca isolate in the receiving waters of our model WWTP and significant concentrations of KPC-producing bacteria within the WWTP compartments, it 1538 seems very likely other WWTPs in the United States are receiving similar inputs of 1539 KPCO, which are potentially being discharged into the receiving environment. A 1540 1541 comprehensive study of WWTPs across the U.S. would shed light on the extent to which KPC-producing bacteria are entering natural waters and surrounding environments and 1542 their potential risk to cause HAIs in humans coming into contact with these KPCO in the 1543 environment. 1544

More research on the effectiveness of different disinfection technologies. While there is
 extensive research on the effectiveness of chlorination and UV disinfection in
 inactivating different ARBs and ARGs, there is little to no research on KPCO and *bla*<sub>KPC</sub>

1548aside from the experiments done in this dissertation. Additionally, the development of1549more advanced water treatment technologies provides more potential treatment options1550for WWTPs, which may be more effective at removing and inactivating ARBs and ARGs1551than the traditional WWTP disinfection technologies. So, more research needs to be done1552on the emerging advanced water treatment technologies and their effectiveness in1553stopping dissemination of ARBs and ARGs as possible alternatives to current WWTP1554treatments.

1555 3. More future research studies to utilize the effects-based approach of transconjugation 1556 experiments to determine the likelihood of risk of KPC dissemination in the receiving environment. Transconjugation experiments offer a definitive approach to seeing if 1557 recipient bacteria will pick up resistance features from ARBs or ARGs. Expanding upon 1558 1559 the work in this dissertation, I would recommend using multiple locations of WWTP 1560 receiving waters and sediments to increase the diversity of the microbiological 1561 community. Diversity of microorganisms could lead to more potential recipients of the 1562 *bla*<sub>KPC</sub> gene. I would also recommend using more potential donors and varying 1563 conditions, such as nutrient availability, temperature, sunlight, etc.

This proposed future work would build upon the groundwork laid by this dissertation in providing essential knowledge to the scientific community on the potential for spread of antibiotic resistance to natural environments and waterways through WWTP effluents, which can then be used to better optimize and improve existing and new WWTP technology to minimize the risks of WWTPs as agents in dissemination of antibiotic resistance.

1569

## 1570 Chapter 7: References

- 1571 Bonomo, R. A., Burd, E. M., Conly, J., Limbago, B. M., Poirel, L., Segre, J. A., & Westblade, L. F. (2018).
- 1572 Carbapenemase-producing organisms: a global scourge. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *66*(8), 1290–
  1573 1297.
- 1574 Bratu, S., Landman, D., Haag, R., Recco, R., Eramo, A., Alam, M., & Quale, J. (2005). Rapid Spread of
- 1575 Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in New York City: A New Threat to Our Antibiotic
- 1576 Armamentarium. Archives of Internal Medicine, 165(12), 1430–1435.
- 1577 https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.12.1430
- 1578 Britt, A. B. (1996). DNA damage and repair in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 47(1), 75–100.
- 1579 Caltagirone, M., Nucleo, E., Spalla, M., Zara, F., Novazzi, F., Marchetti, V. M., ... Paolucci, S. (2017).
- 1580 Occurrence of extended spectrum β-lactamases, KPC-type, and MCR-1.2-producing
- 1581 Enterobacteriaceae from wells, river water, and wastewater treatment plants in Oltrepò Pavese
- area, Northern Italy. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *8*, 2232.
- 1583 Cantón, R., & Coque, T. M. (2006). The CTX-M β-lactamase pandemic. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*,
  1584 *9*(5), 466–475.
- 1585 Cassini, A., Högberg, L. D., Plachouras, D., Quattrocchi, A., Hoxha, A., Simonsen, G. S., ... Cecchini, M.
- 1586 (2019). Attributable deaths and disability-adjusted life-years caused by infections with antibiotic-
- 1587 resistant bacteria in the EU and the European Economic Area in 2015: a population-level modelling
- analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *19*(1), 56–66.
- 1589 CDC, A. (2019). Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States. US Department of Health and Human
- 1590 Services: Washington, DC, USA.

- 1591 Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Antibioti Use in the United States: Progress and* 1592 *Oppurtunitites 2018 Update*.
- 1593 Codjoe, F. S., & Donkor, E. S. (2017). Carbapenem resistance: a review. *Medical Sciences*, 6(1), 1.
- 1594 Czekalski, N., Berthold, T., Caucci, S., Egli, A., & Bürgmann, H. (2012). Increased levels of multiresistant
- 1595 bacteria and resistance genes after wastewater treatment and their dissemination into Lake
- 1596 Geneva, Switzerland. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *3*, 106.
- 1597 Destiani, R., & Templeton, M. R. (2019). Chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic-resistant
- bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water. *AIMS Environmental Science*, *6*(3), 222–
  241.
- 1600 Di Cesare, A., Fontaneto, D., Doppelbauer, J., & Corno, G. (2016). Fitness and recovery of bacterial

1601 communities and antibiotic resistance genes in urban wastewaters exposed to classical disinfection

1602 treatments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *50*(18), 10153–10161.

- 1603 Dodd, M. C. (2012). Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation of
- 1604 antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. *Journal of Environmental*
- 1605 *Monitoring*, *14*(7), 1754–1771.

1606 Europe, W. H. O. R. C. for. (2011). European strategic action plan on antibiotic resistance.

- 1607 Finley, R. L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D. G. J., McEwen, S. A., Li, X.-Z., Gaze, W. H., ... Topp, E. (2013). The
- scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *57*(5), 704–710.
- 1610 Friedberg, E. C., Walker, G. C., Siede, W., & Wood, R. D. (2005). *DNA repair and mutagenesis*. American
  1611 Society for Microbiology Press.

- 1612 Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2013). Microbial selectivity of UV treatment on antibiotic-resistant
- 1613 heterotrophic bacteria in secondary effluents of a municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Water*

1614 *Research*, 47(16), 6388–6394. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.012

- 1615 Guo, M.-T., Yuan, Q.-B., & Yang, J. (2015). Distinguishing effects of ultraviolet exposure and chlorination
- 1616 on the horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater. *Environmental*
- 1617 *Science & Technology*, *49*(9), 5771–5778.
- 1618 Harm, W. (1980). *Biological effects of ultraviolet radiation*.
- 1619 Hijnen, W. A. M., Beerendonk, E. F., & Medema, G. J. (2006, January 1). Inactivation credit of UV
- 1620 radiation for viruses, bacteria and protozoan (oo)cysts in water: A review. Water Research, Vol. 40,
- 1621 pp. 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.030
- Hoyer, O. (1998). Testing performance and monitoring of UV systems for drinking water disinfection. *Water Supply*, *16*(1), 424–429.
- 1624 Huang, J.-J., Hu, H.-Y., Wu, Y.-H., Wei, B., & Lu, Y. (2013). Effect of chlorination and ultraviolet
- 1625 disinfection on tetA-mediated tetracycline resistance of Escherichia coli. *Chemosphere*, *90*(8),
- 1626 2247–2253.
- 1627 Karkman, A., Do, T. T., Walsh, F., & Virta, M. P. J. (2018). Antibiotic-resistance genes in waste water.
- 1628 *Trends in Microbiology*, *26*(3), 220–228.
- 1629 Kittinger, C., Lipp, M., Folli, B., Kirschner, A., Baumert, R., Galler, H., ... Farnleitner, A. H. (2016).
- 1630 Enterobacteriaceae isolated from the river Danube: antibiotic resistances, with a focus on the
- 1631 presence of ESBL and carbapenemases. *PloS One*, *11*(11), e0165820.
- 1632 Laurens, C., Jean-Pierre, H., Licznar-Fajardo, P., Hantova, S., Godreuil, S., Martinez, O., & Jumas-Bilak, E.

- 1633 (2018). Transmission of IMI-2 carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae from river water to
- human. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance*, 15, 88–92.
- 1635 Lehmann, A. R. (1995). Nucleotide excision repair and the link with transcription. *Trends in Biochemical* 1636 *Sciences*, *20*(10), 402–405.
- 1637 Leong, L. Y. C., Kuo, J., & Tang, C.-C. (2008). Disinfection of wastewater effluent: Comparison of
- 1638 *alternative technologies*. Water Environment Research Foundation Alexandria, Va.
- 1639 Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., & Qi, R. (2010). Antibiotic resistance characteristics of
- 1640 environmental bacteria from an oxytetracycline production wastewater treatment plant and the
- 1641 receiving river. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *76*(11), 3444–3451.
- Lindenauer, K. G., & Darby, J. L. (1994). Ultraviolet disinfection of wastewater: effect of dose on
   subsequent photoreactivation. *Water Research*, *28*(4), 805–817.
- 1644 Lledo, W., Hernandez, M., Lopez, E., Molinari, O. L., Soto, R. Q., Hernandez, E., ... Robledo, I. E. (2009).
- 1645 Guidance for control of infections with carbapenem-resistant or carbapenemase-producing
- 1646 Enterobacteriaceae in acute care facilities. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 58(10), 256–
- 1647 258.
- 1648 Locas, A., Demers, J., & Payment, P. (2008). Evaluation of photoreactivation of Escherichia coli and
- 1649 enterococci after UV disinfection of municipal wastewater. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*,
  1650 54(11), 971–975.
- 1651 Loudermilk, E., Kotay, S., Barry, K., Parikh, H., Colosi, L., Mathers, A. (2021). Occurence and fate of KPC-
- 1652 producing Enterobacterales originating from a hospital and entering a receiving water via a
- 1653 municipal wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research*.

1654	Luo, Y., Yang, F., Mathieu, J., Mao, D., Wang, Q., & Alvarez, P. J. J. (2014). Proliferation of multidrug-		
1655	resistant New Delhi metallo- $eta$ -lactamase genes in municipal wastewater treatment plants in		
1656	northern China. Environmental Science & Technology Letters, 1(1), 26–30.		
1657	Mathers, A. J., Vegesana, K., German Mesner, I., Barry, K. E., Pannone, A., Baumann, J., Sifri, C. D.		
1658	(2018). Intensive Care Unit Wastewater Interventions to Prevent Transmission of Multispecies		
1659	Klebsiella pneumoniae Carbapenemase–Producing Organisms. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 67(2),		
1660	171–178. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciy052		
1661	Mathys, D. A., Mollenkopf, D. F., Feicht, S. M., Adams, R. J., Albers, A. L., Stuever, D. M., Wittum, T. E.		
1662	(2019). Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae and Aeromonas spp. present in wastewater		

treatment plant effluent and nearby surface waters in the US. *PloS One*, 14(6).

- McKinney, C. W., & Pruden, A. (2012). Ultraviolet disinfection of antibiotic resistant bacteria and their
   antibiotic resistance genes in water and wastewater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(24),
   13393–13400.
- 1667 MeiTing, G. U. O., Huang, J., HongYing, H. U., & WenJun, L. I. U. (2011). Growth and repair potential of

1668 three species of bacteria in reclaimed wastewater after UV disinfection. *Biomedical and* 1669 *Environmental Sciences*, *24*(4), 400–407.

- 1670 Munir, M., Wong, K., & Xagoraraki, I. (2011). Release of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes in the
- 1671 effluent and biosolids of five wastewater utilities in Michigan. *Water Research*, 45(2), 681–693.
- 1672 Munoz-Price, L. S., Poirel, L., Bonomo, R. A., Schwaber, M. J., Daikos, G. L., Cormican, M., ... Hayden, M.

1673 K. (2013). Clinical epidemiology of the global expansion of Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemases.

1674 *The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 13*(9), 785–796.

- 1675 Noguera-Oviedo, K., & Aga, D. S. (2016). Lessons learned from more than two decades of research on
- 1676 emerging contaminants in the environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 316, 242–251.

1677 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058

- 1678 Organization, W. H. (2017). Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide Research,
- 1679 Discovery, and Development of New Antibiotics. *WHO Press*, 1–7.
- 1680 Pang, Y., Huang, J., Xi, J., Hu, H., & Zhu, Y. (2016). Effect of ultraviolet irradiation and chlorination on
- 1681 ampicillin-resistant Escherichia coli and its ampicillin resistance gene. *Frontiers of Environmental*
- 1682 *Science & Engineering*, *10*(3), 522–530.
- 1683 Patel, G., Huprikar, S., Factor, S. H., Jenkins, S. G., & Calfee, D. P. (2008). Outcomes of carbapenem-
- 1684 resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and the impact of antimicrobial and adjunctive therapies.
- 1685 Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 29(12), 1099–1106.
- 1686 Pitout, J. D. D., & Laupland, K. B. (2008). Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae:
- an emerging public-health concern. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *8*(3), 159–166.
- 1688 Poirel, L., Barbosa-Vasconcelos, A., Simões, R. R., Da Costa, P. M., Liu, W., & Nordmann, P. (2012).
- 1689 Environmental KPC-producing Escherichia coli isolates in Portugal. *Antimicrobial Agents and* 1690 *Chemotherapy*, *56*(3), 1662–1663.
- 1691 Poirel, L., Rodriguez-Martinez, J.-M., Mammeri, H., Liard, A., & Nordmann, P. (2005). Origin of plasmid-
- 1692 mediated quinolone resistance determinant QnrA. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(8),
  1693 3523–3525.
- 1694 Prevention, C. for D. C. and. (2019). Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2019. US
- 1695 Department of Health and Human Services, Centres for Disease Control and ....

- 1696 Queenan, A. M., & Bush, K. (2007). Carbapenemases: the versatile β-lactamases. *Clinical Microbiology* 1697 *Reviews*, *20*(3), 440–458.
- 1698 Rizzo, L., Manaia, C., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Ploy, M. C., ... Fatta-Kassinos, D. (2013). Urban
- 1699 wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the
- 1700 environment: a review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 447, 345–360.
- 1701 Roller, S. D., Olivieri, V. P., & Kawata, K. (1980). Mode of bacterial inactivation by chlorine dioxide. *Water*1702 *Research*, 14(6), 635–641.
- Seeberg, E., Eide, L., & Bjørås, M. (1995). The base excision repair pathway. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *20*(10), 391–397.
- Shih, K. L., & Lederberg, J. (1976). Effects of chloramine on Bacillus subtilis deoxyribonucleic acid. *Journal*of *Bacteriology*, 125(3), 934–945.
- Sinha, R. P., & Häder, D.-P. (2002). UV-induced DNA damage and repair: a review. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 1(4), 225–236.
- 1709 Stange, C., Sidhu, J. P. S., Toze, S., & Tiehm, A. (2019). Comparative removal of antibiotic resistance
- 1710 genes during chlorination, ozonation, and UV treatment. International Journal of Hygiene and
- 1711 *Environmental Health*, 222(3), 541–548.
- 1712 Stover, E., C. Haas, K. Rakness, A. O. S. (2012). EPA Design Manual for Municipal Wastewater
- 1713 Disinfection. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA/625/1-86/021 (NTIS PB98-126618).
- 1714 Tchobanoglus, G., Burton, F., & Stensel, H. D. (2003). Wastewater engineering: Treatment and reuse.
- 1715 *American Water Works Association. Journal*, 95(5), 201.

1716 United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2021).

1717	Wang, J., Chu, L., Wojnárovits, L., & Takács, E. (2020). Occurrence and fate of antibiotics, antibiotic				
1718	resistant genes (ARGs) and antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) in municipal wastewater treatment				
1719	plant: An overview. Science of The Total Environment, 744, 140997.				
1720	https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140997				
1721	Yang, F., Huang, L., Li, L., Yang, Y., Mao, D., & Luo, Y. (2017). Discharge of KPC-2 genes from the WWTPs				
1722	contributed to their enriched abundance in the receiving river. Science of the Total Environment,				
1723	581, 136–143.				
1724	Yigit, H., Queenan, A. M., Anderson, G. J., Domenech-Sanchez, A., Biddle, J. W., Steward, C. D.,				
1725	Tenover, F. C. (2001). Novel Carbapenem-Hydrolyzing $\beta$ -Lactamase, KPC-1, from a Carbapenem-				
1726	Resistant Strain of <em>Klebsiella pneumoniae</em> Antimicrobial Agents and				
1727	Chemotherapy, 45(4), 1151 LP – 1161. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.4.1151-1161.2001				
1728	Yoon, Y., Chung, H. J., Wen Di, D. Y., Dodd, M. C., Hur, HG., & Lee, Y. (2017). Inactivation efficiency of				
1729	plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with chlorine, UV, and				
1730	UV/H2O2. Water Research, 123, 783–793.				
1731	https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.056				
1732	Yuan, QB., Guo, MT., & Yang, J. (2015). Fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes during				
1733	wastewater chlorination: implication for antibiotic resistance control. <i>PloS One</i> , 10(3), e0119403.				
1734	Zhang, C., Brown, P. J. B., & Hu, Z. (2019). Higher functionality of bacterial plasmid DNA in water after				
1735	peracetic acid disinfection compared with chlorination. Science of The Total Environment, 685,				
1736	419–427.				

1737	Zhou, X., Li, Z., Lan, J.	Yan, Y., & Zhu, N. (2	017). Kinetics of inactivation a	nd photoreactivation of
------	---------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------------------	-------------------------

- 1738 Escherichia coli using ultrasound-enhanced UV-C light-emitting diodes disinfection. *Ultrasonics*
- 1739 *Sonochemistry*, *35*, 471–477.
- 1740 Zimmer, J. L., & Slawson, R. M. (2002). Potential repair of Escherichia coli DNA following exposure to UV
- 1741 radiation from both medium-and low-pressure UV sources used in drinking water treatment.
- 1742 Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 68(7), 3293–3299.